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Our Vision 
and Mission 
Our Vision 
To be the leading quality energy solutions provider in Asia and the preferred choice for 
our valued customers, business partners and employees.  

Our Mission 
As a growth organisation in the coal and shipping sector, we aim to: 



Agritrade Resources at a Glance 

Agritrade Resources Limited (“Agritrade Resources” or the “Company”) is a leading integrated coal and shipping 
solutions provider, headquartered in Singapore. We provide value by bringing affordable energy to Asia. 

Coal

Located in Central and South Kalimantan, the mines produce varying grades of bituminous and sub-bituminous, low-
sulphur, low pollutant thermal coal to cater to our international and domestic clienteles. Our coal production is 
supported by our integrated supply chain from pit to port that enables us to transport the coal efficiently and reliably to 
our customers.

Shipping 

31 March 2016 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Revenue of Mining Segment 986.2 1,211.0 935.7

Revenue of Shipping Segment 166.3 23.5 25.6

Total Revenue 1,152.5 1,234.5 961.3



Senamas
Energindo 
Mineral
report, it has an estimated 117.9 million tonnes of reserves and 152.7 million  

FY2016.



Merge Mining
We own and operate a newly acquired underground coal mine located in 

scale, fully-mechanized underground coal mine in production, pioneering 

implementation of underground mining. The concession area contains a 

and the targeted average annual production is around 2.0 million metric 



Sea Horizon
330 metres, the ocean-going vessel has heating and blending capabilities on 
board. The vessel has been classified by Bureau Veritas. 

The Group has signed a long-term contract to lease the vessel to a global 
energy player from March 2016. 



Sea Equatorial
built in 1997. The vessel has an overall length of 330 metres and has been installed 
with heating and blending capabilities. The vessel is anchored at the Malaysia 
Linggi port and is used as a floating storage. Sea Equatorial has been classified by 
Lloyd’s Register.

The vessel has been leased to a global energy player since February 2015.



classified by Bureau Veritas.

entered into a five year long term contract to transport coal to coal 
fired power stations.



Tugboats and 
Barges
Cumulatively, the tugboats and barges can transport an estimated monthly total 

barges have been classified by Bureau Veritas. The Group entered into a Contract 
of Affreightment charter agreement with a Qatar-based independent third party 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In the coming year, 
our Group will build
on our momentum
of delivering
resilient growth.

Dear Stakeholders,

I am pleased to present the annual report of Agritrade Resources Limited (with its subsidiaries collectively known as the 
“Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2016 (“FY2016” or the “Year”). It has been a productive year, one in 
which the Group has strengthened the foundation of our dual engines of growth – coal and shipping. 

The industry continued to face challenges in 2016 as coal markets struggled with out-of-balance supply and demand 
fundamentals. Against the backdrop of declining coal prices, large numbers of coal mines in Indonesia have closed 
down. Despite these headwinds, our financial results have shown that our chosen business model has positioned 
Agritrade Resources for resilience and even enabled the Group to attain new milestones. This, together with our financial 
results, have provided the affirmation that we are on the right track. 

Building on this foundation, we will remain focused on our strategy of maintaining and capitalising on our competitive 
strengths as we work towards our Vision of becoming the “the leading quality energy solutions provider in Asia and the 
preferred choice for our valued customers, business partners and employees.” 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Expanded Coal Offerings while Maintaining Low Cost of Production
Recognising the unfavourable coal outlook and trend, we have positioned Agritrade Resources, to be more competitive 
by moving into higher coal qualities that have better margins.  

Through our acquisition of Merge Mining, we have the expertise to execute large-scale longwall mining. Merge Mining is 
currently Indonesia’s only successful large-scale, fully-mechanized underground coal mine in production. Longwall 
mining technique enhances resource recovery and allows for sustained high rate of production. This advanced 
technology will lower our costs of production as compared to other coal players producing a similar grade of coal, while 
improving our thermal coal quality mix. 

Our expanded range of products, strong financial discipline and integrated pit to port solutions, have enabled us to 
create a compelling, low-cost range of thermal coal profile that is capable of generating positive cashflows even during 
market downturns.

Increase Our Fleet of Niche Vessels to Provide a Steady Income Stream 
Complementing our coal business division is our shipping division, which we made a strategic decision to expand into in 
2015.

Attesting to the competitiveness of our niche energy storage solutions, is the Group’s ability to secure long-term 
contract, on our Very Large Crude Carriers (“VLCCs”) shortly after our acquisition. The key differentiation in our VLCC 
approach lies in our ability to provide customised and value-added solutions, around the clock.  Our vessels have been 
installed with heating and blending capabilities on board, which allows us greater flexibility to store a wide range of oil 
products. Our trained professionals work with our clients to customise heating and blending preferences. This niche has 
enabled the Group to secure premium charter prices, which were generally 30 to 40 per cent higher than the market 
average last year.  

Leveraging on our niche offering and strong relationship with global energy and resources partners, the Group has 
secured a stable and earnings accretive income stream that complements our vision towards becoming the leading 
quality energy solutions provider in Asia. 

Delivering Resilient Growth
In the coming year, our Group will build on our strategy of delivering resilient growth. We will capitalise on our healthy 
balance sheet and put our cash flows to work by seeking strategic opportunities at reasonable valuations to expand our 
business both for the coal and shipping segment. Strong execution of our strategic plan is key. We have all the right 
pieces in place to make excellent headway and will continue to build long-term value for the company and our 
shareholders.

Ng Say Pek 
Chairman 
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Dear Shareholders, 

It has been a challenging year for the coal industry. The low crude oil 
prices, continuing regulatory pressures and an oversupplied coal market, 
have cooled the coal sector. Despite the difficult conditions, revenue of 
the Group decreased only 6.6% yoy to HK$1,152.5 million (2015: 
HK$1,234.5 million) for the financial year. Net profit attributable to 
shareholders increased 220.5% yoy to HK$470.8 million (2015: HK$146.9 
million). The boost in net profit is mainly attributable to the gain on 
bargain purchase recognised for the completion of the Merge Mining 
acquisition.

Our dual engines of growth has positioned Agritrade Resources for 
success as we stayed true to our commitment of creating a resilient 
business. Our financial discipline throughout the boom years have 
placed us in good stead to take advantage of the opportunities present 
today. We chose to invest in assets that are earnings accretive and 
valued at a reasonable price. This strategy has enabled us to capitalise 
on quality assets that will form the basis of our tomorrow’s growth, while 
strengthening the competitiveness of our products today through good 
cost management. 

Strengthening the Foundation of our Coal Division 
In a coal market landscape that is rapidly evolving, Agritrade Resources 
continues to streamline our operations and focus on what we do well – 
operating large-scale, low-cost, responsible coal operations and 
marketing the products.
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During the financial year, our Group acquired a 51% stake in Merge Mining, the only successful large-scale mechanized 
longwall underground coal mine in Indonesia with a total JORC compliant reserves of 92.0 mt, for nominal consideration 
of US$153 million. This strategic acquisition has enabled us to be at the forefront of the coal industry in Indonesia. 
Together with the contract mining service that we have secured with Bunda Kandung, a 3,930-hectare coal mine in 
Central Kalimantan, Indonesia, the Group has expanded our coal offerings to include a spectrum of thermal coal qualities 
of bituminous and sub-bituminous, low-sulphur, low pollutant thermal coal. These developments have enabled us to 
offer coal quality of around 6,426 kcal/kg, 4,200 kcal/kg, 3,800 kcal/kg in its raw form, to cater the diverse needs of 
Indonesia as well as international power producers in South Korea, Taiwan and Japan. In addition, we have also increased 
our effective stake in the profitable SEM Mine to 64.6% in October 2015, while will reduce the proportion of minority 
interests in the mine and thereby increase the earnings per share for the Group. 

Beyond introducing and investing in pioneering technology, Agritrade Resources successfully focused on managing the 
variables we can control. Although weakened coal markets and prices have affected our coal division, we have been 
dedicated to process improvement initiatives, including investing in infrastructure and extending the performance and 
lifespan of our existing fleet of machinery. Our strategically located mines and pit-to-port solutions have enabled us to 
transport the coal efficiently and reliably to our customers, allowing us to continue to drive costs down. By executing our 
carefully crafted plan, we remained profitable, generated solid cash flow and still managed to grow our new shipping 
segment. 

Chartering our new Shipping Division
Our shipping sector has chartered our growth with the expansion of our vessels. 

In 2015, we acquired Sea Equatorial, a VLCC-grade oil tanker with a capacity of 299,999 DWT “deadweight tonnage” that 
was built in 1997. Within days of acquisition, a 12 month contract was secured to lease the vessel out to a global energy 
player beginning February 2015, with an option to extend the lease for another 12 months. The option was exercised in 
February 2016. In March 2016, we acquired another vessel, Sea Horizon a Japanese-built VLCC-grade ocean going oil 
tanker with capacity of 298,412 DWT that was built in 2001. Similar to the last contract, within days of completing this 
VLCC acquisition transaction, we secured a two year agreement with an option to renew, with a global energy player. 
Combined, the floating storage service agreements contributed a revenue of HK$103.3 million (2015: HK$3.2 million) to 
the Group in FY2016. 

Beyond the VLCCs, we have also expanded our fleet by investing in a Panamax vessel in December 2015. Our Panamax 
Vessel is an Indonesian flagged ship, held under an Indonesian Joint Venture, to take advantage of the cabotage rule. 
Due to the limited supply of Panamax in Indonesia, our Panamax enjoys a much higher charter rate. Upon acquisition of 
the Panamax vessel, the Group signed a five-year long-term contract to transport coal to coal-fired power stations.
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In January 2016, we secured a three-year Contract of Affreightment charter agreement for the exclusive use of our six 
sets of tugboats and barges, with an estimated monthly total capacity of approximately 130,000-150,000 metric tonnes, 
for the shipment of construction aggregates. The combined vessel charter income in FY2016 recognised in relation to 
the Panamax Contract and tugboats and barges charter services is HK$62.9 million (2015: HK$20.3 million).

These well-timed transactions have strengthened our financial position and demonstrated our ability to identify and 
execute earnings accretive acquisitions with minimal downtime. 

Fund Raising 
During the year, the Group placed 65,000,000 shares raising net proceeds of HK$98.73 million and issued a convertible 
bond raising net proceeds of approximately HK$154.6 million, due 36 months from the issue date of 14 July 2015. The 
funds raised will be used for the development and expansion of our business and for the general working capital 
purposes. 

Acknowledgements
We are confident in our ability to manage through the current coal market cycle and, more importantly, to create 
substantial value as coal markets rebound. I would like to thank all our customers, business partners and employees for 
their partnership and I look forward to many more years of meaningful relationships. 

Ng Xinwei
Chief Executive Officer



AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 15

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Chairman
Mr. Ng Say Pek, aged 63, Singaporean, was appointed as non-executive Director on 1 August 2013 and is the chairman 
of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company and re-designated to executive director with 
effect from 18 December 2015. Mr. Ng Say Pek is the father of Mr. Ng Xinwei, the executive Director. Mr. Ng graduated 
from the National University of Singapore (formerly known as Nanyang University) with a Bachelor’s Degree in 
Accountancy. He is also a certified public accountant and a fellow member of The Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants of Singapore and Australia. Mr. Ng has more than 39 years experience in the trading of cocoa, palm oil, 
thermal coal and commodity. Mr. Ng also has intensive experience in palm oil estate management, coal mining and tugs 
and barges management.

Mr. Ng is the founder and current managing director of Agritrade International Pte Ltd (“AIPL”), the controlling 
shareholder of the Company and a global trading house based in Singapore that provides supply chain solutions in 
international markets for the last 36 years. Under the leadership of Mr. Ng, AIPL is recognised amongst the top Singapore 
1,000 companies continuously for the past 10 years. Mr. Ng is also the director of a subsidiary of the Company.
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Executive Directors
Mr. Ng Xinwei

the trading operations of palm oil and coal, shipping logistics management and commodities-related investments and is 

operational aspects of the Company’s coal mining business and charting the Company’s future strategy. He is also 
responsible for investor relations and corporate communications.

Mr. Ashok Kumar Sahoo

subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu

and financial management, and is actively involved in the accounting and financial aspects of the Company. Ms. Lim 

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming

and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Company, Mr. Shiu has more than 20 years of 

responsible officer of Upbest Assets Management Limited and Upbest Securities Company Limited which are wholly 
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Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He is also a licensed person registered under the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance of Hong Kong with capacity to carry out regulated activities on corporate finance advisory.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chong Lee Chang
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the 

and the United Kingdom.

processing iron ore.

certificate to practice law in Malaysia.

Mr. Siu Kin Wai
the Audit Committee and member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Siu has 

Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Terence Chang Xiang Wen
August 2013 and is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit Committee. He holds a 
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MANAGEMENT TEAM

Peter Gunn
Chief Technical Officer

to invest in.

Suka Waluya
Head of Mining Operations
Mr. Waluya, aged 54, is the Head of Mining Operations of SEM. Mr. Waluya is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day 

community as well as the relevant authorities to ensure smooth daily operations.

Mr. Waluya is a seasoned coal professional, specializing in the areas of coal geology and mining. He has over 10 years of 

Geological and Mining Services.

Mr. Qiu XiangMing
Managing Director of Sea Oriental Line Pte Ltd

Captain Li Xiaogang
Head of Marine Quality and Safety Department of Sea Oriental Line Pte Ltd
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MANAGEMENT TEAM

Captain Zheng Weiqin
Head of the Shipping Division of Sea Oriental Line Pte Ltd

operations. Captain Zheng specializes in handling marine insurance claims, oil floating storage facilities, cargo quantity 
loss control and vessel safety operating processes. He oversees and manages the financial aspect of ship chartering.

China Shipping (Group) Company, China Resources (Holding) Co. Ltd and Univan Ship Management Limited for more 
than 10 years.

Changes in Management Team

Mr. Steve Luo
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What Does Meeting JORC Standards Mean? 

Our SEM Coal Mine 

Besides a readily available supply of coal and a large quantity of coal 

which represent the weight of overburden that can be profitably removed 
to obtain a unit of coal. This translates into lower mining costs and higher 
potential profitability for the Group. The relative ease of increasing 
production capacity has also resulted in a significant increase in coal 
production capacity at our mine since operations commenced in 2010. 

This advantage is complemented with the integrated pit to port supply 

improve the logistics certainty and production efficiency. The increased 
productivity allows us to pass the cost savings to our customers, further 
enhancing our competitive edge.  

of coal production. We will continue to optimise our coal production in 
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Our SEM Coal Product

SEM Coal Specifications

Total Moisture (ARB)

41%–43%

Gross Calorific Value (ARB)

Size (0-90mm) 85% Min.

45 Min.

64

32

0

INDONESIAN COAL PRICE 
REFERENCE (HBA)

US$/MT
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Our Merge Mining Coal Mine 

Longwall mining techniques recover the highest percentage of the in-ground coal and is also considered the most cost-
effective method of underground coal mining. This mining method is competitive with most open-cut coal mining 

sought after internationally, due to it its high gross calorific value and superior quality.  

Taboneo. The ease of transportation to the port ensures that we are able to produce the coal at an affordable price, 
which allows us to pass the cost-savings on to our customers. 
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Merge Mining Coal Specifications

Total Moisture (ARB)

39%–41%

Gross Calorific Value (ARB)

Size (0-50mm) 85% Min.

33 Min.

Bunda Kandung Coal Specification

Total Moisture (ARB)

40%–43%

Gross Calorific Value (ARB)

Size (0-50mm) 85% Min.

40 Min.

Our Merge Mining Coal Product 

to-low ash and low-to-medium sulphur content

traders and power generation plants in 

and China

Our Bunda Kandung Coal Product 

ash and low sulphur content
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Megastar, provides mining services and develops infrastructure and 
logistics for the Group. 

for Bunda Kandung, a 3,930-hectare coal mine in Central Kalimantan, 

and coal processing to produce quality sub-bituminous coal with a 

its raw form. 

improve the logistics certainty and production efficiency. The increased 
productivity allows us to pass the cost savings to our customers, further 
enhancing our competitive edge.  

Complementing our hauling road management is our modern fleet of 

mining equipment that helps to improve our utilization and effectiveness.
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The decrease in both turnover and gross profit was mainly attributable 

SEM”) coal for 
the year. However, due to the recognition of a one-off gain on bargain purchase 
arising from the Merge Transactions (as defined hereafter) of HK$358,301,000 for the 
current financial year, the Group recorded a significant increase in the consolidated profit 

(2015: HK$146,858,000) as compared to the corresponding financial year (“FY”) ended 31 March 
2015. The Board considers that such gain on bargain purchase is one-off nature and is applied to 

the Company for FY 2017 will significantly decrease accordingly.

The production capacity of our SEM mining concession (the “SEM Mine

Merge Mine”) have not commenced in FY 2016. For the current 

HK$ Nil) in relation to the grant of share options during the year, the one-off acquisition costs incurred in relation to the 
Merge Transactions (as defined hereafter) of HK$34,863,000 (2015: HK$ Nil) and write off and impairment losses 
recognised in respect of other receivables of the Group of HK$47,573,000 (2015: HK$ Nil). As a result, the administrative 

costs for the current year of HK$29,747,000 (2015: HK$30,991,000) were maintained at a similar level as last year.

For FY 2016, the Group recorded a turnover 
of approximately HK$1,152 million (2015: 
HK$1,234 million), representing a decrease of 
approximately 6.6% as compared to FY 2015. 
Gross profit also dropped from HK$370 million 
to HK$356 million with gross profit margin of 
30.9% (2015: 30.0%) maintained at a similar 
level as last year. 
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DIVIDEND
The Board recommended a payment of a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per 

HK$15,211,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016. Together with the interim 
dividend of HK$ Nil per share (2015: HK1.0 cent), it will amount to a total 
dividend of HK1.0 cent per share (2015: HK2.0 cents) for the year.

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

independent third parties pursuant to a placing agreement dated 18 May 
2015. Upon completion, 65,000,000 new shares of the Company were issued 
and allotted at a price of HK$1.55 per placing share with gross and net 

HK$98.73 million respectively.
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consideration of HK$180 million in accordance with a sale and purchase agreement entered into with Agritrade 
AIPL

settlement of the consideration for the transaction.

Convertible Bonds”) at the aggregate principal 

HK$154.6 million. The Convertible Bonds have a maturity period of three years and bear interest at the rate of 5.5% per 
annum for the first year and 6% per annum thereafter. The Convertible Bonds can be converted into ordinary shares of 

of issue, where upon full conversion, the Convertible Bonds would be convertible into 70,454,545 conversion shares of 

all of the outstanding Convertible Bonds at its principal amount together with the accrued interest. There was no 
conversion occurred during the current year. As at 31 March 2016, the carrying amount of the Convertible Bonds in issue 
was recognised as liability component of HK$113,133,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position.

CPS A”) 
SIL”) as settlement of part of the consideration 

transferrable, non-redeemable and has no dividend entitlement and no voting rights at the general meetings of the 
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during the two-year period starting from the date on which the sustainable production of three million tonnes of 
annualised production by the relevant subsidiaries of Merge Mining Holding Limited (“MMHL”) has been achieved. 

component in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Company on 12 October 2012. The consideration for the grant was HK$1.00. Upon the grant of share options, related 

other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2016. As at the date hereof, none of such 10,000,000 share 

1,328,215 new shares of the Company were allotted and issued by the Company to the option holders for a consideration 

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$2,695,642,000, while 

development opportunities.
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Gearing Ratio
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the 
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total 
borrowings divided by total capital. Total borrowings 
include current and non-current borrowings as shown 
in the consolidated statement of financial position, 

related parties, obligation under finance leases and 
convertible bonds. Total capital is calculated as the 
aggregate of the equity attributable to owners of the 
Company as shown in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and the total borrowings. The 
gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2016 is 24% 
(2015: 21%).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange 
Rates and Related Hedge
The Group’s  assets ,  l iabi l i t ies  and bus iness 
transactions are principally denominated in Hong 

and the United States dollars and therefore the Group 

into foreign currency hedging contract with financial 
institution as a tool to manage and reduce its 

dollars.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 March 2016, the net carrying values of the 
Group’s motor vehicles and plant and machinery held 
under finance leases amounted to HK$8,991,000 
(2015: HK$11,342,000) and HK$151,436,000 (2015: 
HK$180,263,000), respectively. The Group’s obligation 
under finance leases is secured by the lessor’s charge 
over the leased assets.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s mining-related plant 
and machinery and vessels with carrying value of 
H K $ 1 3 , 8 8 4 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 1 5 :  H K $ 1 6 , 3 5 4 , 0 0 0 )  a n d 
HK$609,205,000 (2015: HK$299,883,000), respectively, 

Group.
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Mining Business
The mining business segment of the Group is principally engaged in the production, processing, transportation, sales, 

Merge

ICMA

(2015: HK$1,211 million) and operational profit to HK$170 million (2015: HK$235 million) for the current year.

SEM mining and coal trading activities
Our own-branded SEM coal is a sub-bituminous, low-sulphur, low-pollutant thermal coal from our SEM Mine located in 

CV
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(2015: 4.1 million tonnes) in the current year, which is positioned at the similar level as FY 2015. Owing to the decrease in 
the average coal selling price for the current year, the Group’s SEM mining and coal trading segment recorded a 
decrease in both the turnover to HK$986 million (2015: HK$1,211 million) and the operational profit to HK$174 million 

to FY 2015.

September 2022. As a result of the strengths above, the Group operates its SEM Mine at a higher production efficiency 
with better cost and operational control over the coal logistics. These are also the reasons for the stable and sustainable 

Merge mining operation

acquisition is consistent with the Company’s strategy and commitment to 

produce run-of-mine coal with low inherent moisture, low sulphur content 

The acquisition of the Merge Mine, the only large-scale mechanised longwall 

retreating mechanised longwall mining is a proven and accepted mining 

The production and the commercial operation of the Merge Mine have 
commenced since the second quarter of 2016 with initial sale transactions of 

any revenue to the Group for FY 2016. Since the quality of the coal products 

the Merge Mine would contribute to the turnover, profitability and positive 
cash flows of the Group from FY 2017 onwards.
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Contract mining operation
The Group commenced the contractual mining business since the first quarter of 2016. Under this new coal mining 

125,000 tonnes of coal were produced and shipped under this contract mining model, which contributed a turnover of 

strategically positioned between our low CV SEM coal and our high CV Merge coal so that the Group can effectively 

mining business will continue to grow and become one of the principal modes of the Group’s mining business in future.

Mining expenditure, estimated coal resources and reserves
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Coal resources and reserves for the SEM Mine

SEM JORC Review”) on the coal resources and reserves of the SEM Mine as at 

increased to 117.85 million tonnes and 152.70 million tonnes, respectively, compared to the respective comparable 
figures of 41.00 million tonnes and 78.30 million tonnes as reported in the Statement of Open Cut Coal Resources and 

Review and moving forward to date as at 31 March 2016 are summarised in the following table:

       

As at As at 
31 March 

As at 
31 March 

As at 
31 March 

As at 
31 March 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
       

Coal Resources Measured 86.61 84.87 81.01 76.93 72.95
 (in million tonnes) 51.26 51.26 51.26 51.26 51.26

14.83 14.83 14.83 14.83 14.83

Total 152.70 150.96 147.10 143.02 139.04
       

Coal Reserves 83.38 81.64 77.78 73.70 69.72
 (in million tonnes) 34.47 34.47 34.47 34.47 34.47

Total 117.85 116.11 112.25 108.17 104.19
       

Coal reserves were estimated by applying modifying factors to the coal resources. These modifying factors included 
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Coal resources and reserves for the Merge Mine
The Group engaged SRK Consulting (China) Limited (“SRK
(the “Merge JORC Review”) on the Merge Mine in November 2015. The estimated coal resources and reserves of the 

       

Coal Resources (in million tonnes) 
as at 30 June 2015

Coal Reserves (in million tonnes) 
as at 30 September 2015

Measured Indicated Inferred Total Proved Probable Total
       

55.3 88.4 120.8 264.5 0 92.0 92.0

production and commercial operation of the Merge Mine have not yet commenced.

Mining losses at the roof and floor of the coal seams, some dilution by dirt bands in the coal seams, a general coal 
recovery rate (panel recovery), mining factors such as the loss of coal for pillars for the protection of surface structures 

considered by SRK when converting coal resource to coal reserve. The reference point for the coal reserve estimate is 

Shipping Business
The shipping business segment of the Group comprises the shipping freight service from time chartering of leased 
vessels for and on behalf of customers, the provision of long-term vessel transportation and shipping freight services and 
the provision of long-term floating storage and relevant logistics services for crude oil and petrochemical products. Term 
shipping freight and floating storage services were mainly provided by the Group’s own fleet, which includes two sets of 
very large crude carrier grade vessels (the “VLCC(s) Panamax Vessel
sets of tug boats and barges (the “Tug and Barge Vessels”).

is HK$166.3 million 
(2015: HK$23.5 million) and the segment profit is HK$87.1 million (2015: HK$21.6 million). The significant increase in both 

service income that was recognised for the full year of FY 2016, which only commenced since the last quarter of FY 2015.
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Time chartering of leased vessels and long-term vessel transportation and shipping freight 
services
The Group’s time chartering and long-term vessel transportation and shipping freight services were mainly provided by 

HK$62.9 million (2015: HK$20.3 million) was recorded. The significant increase is mainly due to the higher level of 
chartering services and long-term time-chartering agreements (the “Charter Agreements”) with higher freight rates that 
were entered into during the year for its Tug and Barge Vessels.

Panamax Contract”) 

income and cash flow that would support the long-term growth of the Group in the future.

Long-term VLCC floating storage and logistic services
The long-term floating storage and logistic services were provided by the two sets of VLCCs owned by the Group, which 
were acquired in February 2015 and March 2016 respectively. Following each of the acquisitions, the Group entered into 
long-term floating storage service agreements with an international petroleum trading company to lease out the two sets 

will continue to increase significantly due to the contribution of the new VLCC acquired in March 2016. The Group 

income and cash flows on a long-term basis.
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Renewal of Coal Supply Agreement with AIPL

in 2012 with the approval obtained from the independent shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting. 

tonnes of coal annually for each of the years ending 31 March 2016, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018. The approved 
annual caps for each of the said financial years were all set at US$24.5 million, which were approved by independent 
shareholders of the Company in accordance to the requirements of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing The Listing 

course of the Group’s business and the terms were negotiated based on normal commercial terms and the prices were 

fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Successful Placement of 65 Million New Shares of the Company

price of HK$1.55 per placing share on a best effort basis.

terms and conditions of the placing agreement. The gross and net proceeds arising from the placement were HK$100.75 

capital as intended.

The Company considered that the placing represented an opportunity to raise capital for the Group, to broaden its 
shareholders base and thereby increasing the liquidity of its shares, as well as to strengthen the financial position of the 
Group. 65,000,000 ordinary shares of nominal value HK$6,500,000 were issued and the share price on 18 May 2015, being 
the placement agreement date, was HK$1.70.

Successful Issue of US$20 Million Convertible Bonds of the Company
Eagle Eye”) entered into a subscription agreement (the 

“Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue to Eagle Eye, which also agreed to 
subscribe for, the Convertible Bonds at the aggregate principal amount of US$20 million. Assuming full conversion of the 
Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$2.20, the Convertible Bonds would be convertible into 70,454,545 

growth potential. The Company was of the view that raising of funds through the issue of the Convertible Bonds was fair 

terms and in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Group as intended.
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Acquisition of 8% Equity Interest in PT Rimau Indonesia

holds 95% equity interest in the SEM Mine. The nominal consideration of the transaction is HK$180 million, which was 

per share. The transaction constituted a discloseable and connected transaction for the Company.

The transaction would effectively increase the Company’s investment in the profitable SEM Mine with a promising 
business prospect at a relatively low investment cost. This could enhance the return on investments and strengthen the 
Company’s operational and economic controls over the SEM Mine. Upon completion of the transaction, the proportion 
of its minority interests would be reduced and the earnings per share for the Company would increase accordingly. The 

Acquisition of 51% Equity Interest in MMHL
On 28 October 2015, the Company and its designated nominee 
entered into each of the share sale and subscription agreement (the 
“SSSA”) and the shareholders agreement (the “SHA

nominee agreed to purchase 2,944 fully paid up ordinary shares in the 
issued share capital of MMHL (the “Merge Acquisition”). MMHL 
agreed to issue and the Company or its designated nominee agreed 
to subscribe for 4,400 new shares of MMHL (together with the Merge 

Merge Transactions”). Accordingly, 
upon the first completion of the Merge Transactions, the Group will 
hold 51% of the then issued share capital of MMHL. The SHA sets out 
the agreed rights and obligations of the Company or its designated 

being shareholders of MMHL. The Merge Transactions constituted a 
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First Conditions”) as set out in the SSSA are satisfied or waived, the 
consideration payable at the first completion shall be US$50 million, comprising (a) US$30 million paid to MMHL in cash 
or through a combination of cash and by way of set off against the same dollar value of some or all of the principal, 
interest and any other amounts outstanding from MMHL to the Company under an interim loan agreement; and (b) the 

satisfaction or waiver of the First Conditions), the consideration payable at the second completion shall be US$103 

aggregate notional value of US$36.5 million; and (c) the issuance and allotment of 178,724,490 Class B convertible 
preference shares (the “CPS B CPSs”) having an aggregate notional 
value of US$56.5 million.

The aggregate consideration payable at the first completion and the second completion shall become US$153 million.

obtain a quality (high CV, low inherent moisture and low sulphur content) coal mine. MMHL has deep operational roots in 

the Merge Mine will drive sustainable growth and profitability. The Company also believes that the Merge Transactions will 

leveraging economies of scale, which will ultimately lead to the enhancement of shareholder value.

further details of the Merge Transactions.

Cancellation, Reclassification and Re-Designation of Authorised Share Capital of the 
Company
On 28 October 2015, the Board proposed to cancel the 500,000,000 authorised but unissued convertible preference 
shares of par value of HK$0.10 each so that the Company is authorised to issue 5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of a single 
class of par value of HK$0.10 each, which were reclassified and re-designated into 4,600,000,000 ordinary shares of par 

designation of authorised share capital were approved by the shareholders of the Company at the shareholders’ meeting 
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Investment in the Panamax 
Vessel

Vessel from an independent third party. The 

(deadweight tonnage). The vessel has been 
classified by Bureau Veritas (“BV”), one of the 
leading vessel classification societies in the 

Association of Classification Societies.

A f te r  the  acqu i s i t ion ,  long- te rm coa l 
transportation contract with coal-fired power 
stations was entered into with a sizeable company for a period of five years. The Board considers that the new investment 

contribute stable, sustainable and diversified income and cash flows to the Company on a long-term basis.

Acquisition of a New VLCC

memorandum of agreement with a sizeable European shipping company to acquire a VLCC for a consideration of 

Rules, which completed on 9 March 2016. Shortly following the completion, the Group entered into a floating storage 

ocean freight business, which would contribute stable, sustainable and diversified income and cash flows to the Group 
on a long-term basis.
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As at 31 March 2016, the Group had 534 employees. The 
Group mainly determines staff  remuneration in 

qualifications.

recommended by the remuneration committee, and 
decided by the Board, as authorised by the shareholders 
at the annual general meeting, in accordance with the 
Group’s operating results, individual performance and 

The Company maintains a share option scheme, pursuant 
to which, share options are granted to selected eligible 
participants, to provide incentive to the option holders to 
participate and contribute the growth of the Group.
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Our Growth Strategy

out the following:

been optimised in our mines to realize stable growth in production and efficiency. For instance, the Group 
strengthened control over its operations and fortified costs and funding management to improve the operational 

penetration, thereby strengthening the Group’s position as a reliable coal supplier and enhancing the Group’s 
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The Group strongly believes that the strategy of 

through acquisition of new vessels, which was 
followed by long-term service contracts. This has 
enabled the Group to secure a stable and 

the Group acquired the Merge Mine, which was 
valued at more than US$300 million. Following 
this acquisition, the Group has successfully 
transformed from a single-mine operator to a 
multi-mine and multi-product integrated coal 
producer with diverse coal product types 

The Group has successfully established our coal 

and global coal industry player.

Regarding the shipping business, the Group has been 
able to enter into long-term floating storage and 
shipping freight service contracts with reputable 
international energy companies following each significant 

safe, reliable and efficient operations have enabled the 
Group to capture further opportunities to meet our 
customers’ chartering needs. The Group intends to 
continue building and capitalising on its long-term 
relationships with international energy companies to 
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Outlook

(year-on-year) to 25 million tonnes for the first four months of 2016.

integrated coal producer, will continue to adopt a cautious approach in operating its mining business. For the SEM Mine, 

demand. For the Merge Mine, the production and operation have started since second quarter of 2016 and it is currently 
in an advanced stage of development. The Group will further develop and invest in the production and operation of the 
Merge Mine in accordance to the established business plan and budget, with gradual ramp-up to the annual production 
target of 6 million tonnes per year.
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entered into with sizeable companies. Such term contracts were signed for long-term periods ranging from two years to 

Barge Vessels, all of which are secured with long-term service and charter contracts. As such, a stable revenue and 
profitability can be secured for the Group and stable and reliable cash inflows can also be generated to the Group in the 
long run.

buying and could lead to additional floating storage of oil if the spread between the current and future oil price 
continues to widen; (iii) lower oil and fuel prices, if sustained, could translate into higher oil demand over time; and (iv) 

Reuters released in May 2016, although the floating storage segment is less profitable given the current term structure in 
crude futures, the volume of crude in floating storage at sea in South East Asia, predominantly Singapore and Malaysia, 

onshore storage facilities have been filled since the beginning of 2016. Therefore, the Group is optimistic about the 
prospect of the VLCC business and believes that the VLCCs will continue to contribute stable and significant income 
streams and positive cash flows to the Group’s shipping business in the future.

this business through further acquisition and chartering of new vessels, particularly VLCCs, to meet the growing demand. 

region. The Group will capitalise on its long-term relationships with international energy companies and other customers 

operations has positioned us favorably to capture additional opportunities to meet our customers’ future chartering 
needs.
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The international commodity price including coal price has declined over the past year. Although it has negatively 
impacted the coal and energy industry players globally, many new investment opportunities have arisen due to the 
relatively low commodity prices, especially in relation to the natural resources and energy sectors. As part of the long-

natural resources and energy sectors at relatively modest prices. The Group also intends to seize this opportunity for 

The Group has been in active discussions and negotiations with various natural resources and energy companies for 

As at the date hereof, such discussions and negotiations are still at a preliminary stage and no final terms and conditions 
have been concluded. Further announcement(s) will be made by the Group in compliance with the Listing Rules to inform 
the shareholders of the Company in relation to the status of these discussions and negotiations as and when appropriate.

by other means or otherwise as may be considered to be effective and appropriate, which may be used for the additional 

acquisitions as mentioned above, should they materialise. Further announcement(s) will be made by the Group in respect 
thereof as and when required by the Listing Rules.
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Operational Risk Management

Adverse Weather Conditions

hauling roads to be muddy, which will decrease productivity. To overcome this, the management has installed good 
drainage system with appropriate water pumps and settling ponds to drain the water from the pits. The management 
also regularly upgrades and maintains the Group’s hauling road to ensure continuous operations even during 
unfavourable weather.

Logistics Risk

Market Risk

team to ensure suitable and secured payment terms to safeguard the Company’s interests.

Financial Risk Management

Capital Risk Management
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Our commitment to the local community and environment is reflected in the various activities that we voluntarily engage 
in. We upgrade the common infrastructure around our coal mine by building and installing infrastructure such as roads 

the resource business, we also provide employment opportunities to the local residents.

drainage and filtering systems to ensure that the water is safe for sanitation. After rehabilitation, the site is monitored to 

community that we are in.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Agritrade Resources has always regarded investor relations as an important aspect of corporate governance and an 
effective way to maximize shareholder value. The Group has a dedicated investor relations (“IR”) division that focuses on 
facilitating communications with shareholders on a regular basis and attends to queries or concerns in a timely and 
transparent manner.

As the first point of contact for financial institutions, media and shareholders, the IR team works directly with the 
management to provide strategic solutions and craft key messages. They also inform senior management regularly of the 
latest industry developments, gather market perceptions as well as provide insights on investors’ concern.

Corporate Website
Agritrade Resources’ company website (www.agritraderesources.com) offers easy access to detailed information on 
various aspects of the business for all interested stakeholders. It is particularly useful for potential investors who wish to 
gain in-depth insights into the company’s business model, financial health and key management team. To better serve 
our shareholders, the “Investor Relations” section provides regular updates on stock information, key ratios, corporate 
announcements, financial results and presentations, interim and annual reports, as well as quarterly business update 
reports. The website provides an effective method of reaching a wide audience by allowing users to sign up for alerts 
whenever an announcement is uploaded. This tool provides an easy and timely method for interested parties to stay 
updated on the latest corporate developments.

Announcement of Financial Results
Material information is disclosed in a comprehensive, accurate and timely manner through the release of announcements 
posted on the Stock Exchange’s online portal (www.hkex.com.hk) and media releases. Shareholders and the investing 
public can also access the Company’s announcements, media releases and presentation materials on the Group’s 
website.
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Corporate Materials

onto our website and are available to all other interested parties upon request. The annual report is released on 

or upon request.

are used at meetings with the investment community and media. Though not mandatory, we upload these on the 

Annual General Meeting
The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) is typically held in August in Hong Kong each year. Besides serving as 
a platform for shareholders to vote on proposed resolutions to be passed, the AGM provides an opportunity for the 
Board to meet shareholders and to provide them an update of the Group’s strategic direction. The senior management 

Meetings, Conference Calls and Site Visits
The Company engages local and foreign institutional investors, analysts and the media through face-to-face meetings, 
conference calls and emails, to provide regular updates and address any queries on the Company’s performance and 
strategies.

analysts to have a better understanding of the Group’s businesses.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Agritrade Resources Limited (the “Company”) presents 
their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

logistics, sale of coal and other mining-related activities, shipping freight service from time chartering of leased 
vessels for and on behalf of customers and the provision of floating storage and relevant logistics services for 
crude oil and petrochemical products.

Further discussion and analysis of the principal activities of the Group as regular by Schedule 5 to the Companies 
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business and a discussion of the 

Group’s business, are presented and disclosed elsewhere in this report and 
Analysis” section of this annual report, which is set out on pages 25 to 49 of this annual report and shall form part 

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 and the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs 
as at the date are set out in the financial statements on pages 74 to 144 of the annual report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.01 (2015: HK$0.01) per share for the year ended 

Company.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five 

out on pages 145 to 146 of the annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES, CONVERTIBLE 
BONDS AND SHARE OPTIONS

the Company during the year are set out in notes 29, 30, 28 and 33 to the financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to members as at 31 March 2016 amounted to HK$98,203,000 
(2015: HK$133,273,000), which comprised contributed surplus of HK$30,748,000 (2015: HK$30,748,000) and retained 
profits of HK$67,455,000 (2015: HK$102,525,000).

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of the Company is 

contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share 
capital and share premium accounts.

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:
(Chairman)

(Chief Executive Officer)
(Chief Financial Officer)

Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming

(Vice Chairman)

Mrs. Chen Chou Mei Mei (resigned on 24 September 2015)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chong Lee Chang
Mr. Siu Kin Wai

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (resigned on 26 October 2015)

Chang shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Being 

one year) is three years or the period up to his retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

report.

months ended 30 September 2015 up to the date of despatch of this annual report (the “Relevant Period”) which 
are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

it can be early terminated by giving not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Mr. Siu Kin Wai and Mr. Chong Lee Chang have entered into service contracts with the Company for a period of 

has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within 
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Stock Exchange”). The Group recognised the 

The Group has allocated sufficient and competent human resources to ensure ongoing compliance with the laws 

significant impact on the business and operation of the Group, including but not limited to the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Listing Rules”).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES

SFO), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise 

Model Code”), were as follows:

Long position

     

Ordinary shares

Interest in
underlying

shares
  

Name of director
Personal
interest

Corporate
interest

Personal
interest

Aggregated
interest

Percentage of
the issued

voting 
shares of

the Company
      

– 860,533,333 3,000,000 863,533,333 56.78%
– – 2,750,000

(Note 2)
2,750,000 0.18%

– 48,854,000
(Note 3)

– 48,854,000 3.21%

Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu 45,966,667 – 1,500,000
(Note 4)

47,466,667 3.12%

Mr. Shiu Shu Ming – – 2,750,000
(Note 5)

2,750,000 0.18%

Mr. Chong Lee Chang – 3,760,000
(Note 6)

– 3,760,000 0.25%

– – 10,000,000
(Note 7)

10,000,000 0.66%
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Note:

AIPL”) and its associate, 

Kumar Sahoo.

(4) This represents 1,500,000 share options granted to Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu.

(5) This represents 2,750,000 share options granted to Mr. Shiu Shu Ming.

(6) This represents 3,760,000 shares of the Company held by Shieldman Limited, which was wholly owned by Mr. Chong Lee 
Chang.

2016.

any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
CB”) at the aggregate principal amount of 

US$20 million for cash to an independent third party (the “CB Holder”). The CB has a maturity period of three 
years and bears interest at the rate of 5.5% per annum for the first year and 6% per annum thereafter. The CB can 
be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at an initial conversion price of HK$2.20 each at the option of 

Company shall have the obligation to redeem all of the outstanding CB at its principal amount together with the 
accrued interest thereon. There was no conversion on the CB by the CB Holder during the year ended 31 March 
2016.
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CPS A”) at the 
aggregate notional value of US$20 million as part of the consideration of an acquisition of 51% equity interests in a 

share of the Company at a notional value of HK$2.45 at the option of the holder within two years after the 

the year ended 31 March 2016.

Save as disclosed above and the holdings of share options as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements, at 
no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE BY DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

of the Company as at 31 March 2016, was interested in a coal supply agreement dated 31 March 2015, which was 
SEM”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the 

700,000 tonnes of coal annually for each of the three years ending 31 March 2016, 2017 and 2018. Further details of 

of this report.

Lulu had material interests in the coal supply agreement.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 March 2016, no other transaction, arrangement or contract of 
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which the Company, its subsidiaries or any of its fellow 

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

and to provide competitive remuneration and benefits and career development opportunities based on the 
performance of employees. The Group also understands the importance of maintaining good relationship with 
customers so that it is committed to provide quality products and services and to strengthen the relationship by 

that the Group can respond proactively. As for the suppliers and service providers, the Group aims at maintaining 

management regularly conducts performance reviews on and timely communicates with those suppliers and 
service providers for immediate rectification and ongoing improvements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

short positions of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the 

the issued voting shares that carry a right to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company:

    

Name Capacity

Number of
shares/

underlying
shares held

Approximate
percentage

of shareholding
    

Beneficial owner and interest of
 a controlled corporation

860,533,333 56.58%

Beneficial owner 485,360,000 31.91%

Note:

Save as disclosed above, no other party was recorded in the register of interests in shares and short positions of 

value of the issued voting shares that carry a right to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the 
Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

by the Company out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages 

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
33 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws although there are no restrictions 
against such rights under the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata 
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing Connected Transactions in relation to Coal Supply Agreement dated 31 
March 2015
On 31 March 2015, a coal supply agreement was entered into between SEM, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the 

person of the Company and accordingly, the transactions under the coal supply agreement constituted continuing 
connected transactions on the part of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

should be mutually agreed by both parties on each transaction. The coal supply agreement was entered into in the 
usual and ordinary course of the Group’s business and terms of which were negotiated based on normal 
commercial terms and the prices were determined following arm’s length negotiation. The coal supply agreement 

announcement and the circular of the Company dated 31 March 2015 and 23 April 2015 respectively.

31 March 2016 of HK$189,880,000 as approved by the independent shareholders at a special general meeting of 
the Company held on 11 May 2015.

continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 March 2016 and confirmed that the transactions have 
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) either on normal commercial 
terms or better terms; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on terms that are fair 
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules to report on the Group’s 
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 March 2016 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 

Accountants. The auditor has issued the unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of 
the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 March 2016 as disclosed by the Group in accordance 
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been duly provided by the Company to the 



AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED60

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Save as disclosed above, there is no other transactions for the year ended 31 March 2016, including those 
disclosed as related party transactions elsewhere in the financial statements, under the definition of connected 
transactions or continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company 
confirms that it has complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
As at 31 March 2016, the Group had 534 employees. The Group mainly determines staff remuneration in 

by the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general meeting, having regard to the Group’s 

The Company maintains a share option scheme, pursuant to which, share options are granted to selected eligible 
participants, with a view to provide incentive to the option holders to participate and contribute the growth of the 

The Group operated the defined contribution pension schemes during the year, of which the contributions were 
calculated on a certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. As at 31 March 2016, the Group did not have 

COMPETING INTERESTS

of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules are set out below:

palm oil in the South East Asia and may be in competition with the mining business of the Group. As at the date 

such, the Board considers that the Group is capable of carrying on its own mining business independently of, and 

Company had any interest in a business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the Group’s revenue from sales of goods or rendering of services and purchases 

  

Percentage of
the Group’s total

Revenue from 
sales of 

goods or 
rendering of 

services Purchases
   

The largest customer 28%
Five largest customers in aggregate 65%
The largest supplier 15%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 35%

Shareholder” and “Connected Transactions” of this report and in the note 37 to the financial statement, at no time 

customers and suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2016.

AUDITOR

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Xinwei
Director and Chief Executive Officer
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governance practices adopted by Agritrade Resources Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the 
“Group”).

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is committed to maintaining a high 

with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code
Rules (the “Listing Rules
“Stock Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2016.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities of the Board
The Board assumes responsibility for the management of the Group’s affairs, and concentrates on matters 
affecting the Group’s overall strategic policies, finances, shareholder interests and corporate governance. The 

Board Composition

pages 15 to 17 of this annual report.

Board Diversity

the Board. The policy provides that selection of candidates of board members should be based on a range of 

The nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Company will monitor the implementation of 

Group’s business.

Independent Non-executive Directors

independent.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

responsible for leadership of the Board and for the overall development of strategy of the Group, and ensuring 

business and operations.

Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ Attendance and Time Commitment

       

Directors
Board 

meetings

Executive
Committee

meetings

Audit
Committee

meetings

Remuneration
Committee

meeting

Nomination
Committee

meetings
General

meetings
       

Executive Directors:
(Chairman) – – – –

(Chief Executive Officer) – – –
 

 (Chief Financial Officer) – – –
Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu – – –

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming –

 
 (Vice Chairman)  
 (resigned on 1 May 2016) – – – –
Mrs. Chen Chou Mei Mei  
 (resigned on 24 September 2015) – – – –

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chong Lee Chang – –
Mr. Siu Kin Wai –

– – –
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee  
 (resigned on 26 October 2015) – –
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Board Meetings and Proceedings

of the Company. The Board held 13 meetings (including regular Board meetings) during the year ended 31 March 
2016. Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information were normally 

solicited if they were unable to attend the meeting of the Board.

and all applicable rules and regulations in respect of the meetings are followed. With the assistance of the 

final versions of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, with sufficient details drafted by 

BOARD COMMITTEES
As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established the following committees of which 
the authority, functions, composition and duties of each of the committees are set out below:

1. Executive Committee
Executive Committee

registrar of the Company on share issues.
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2. Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Company comprised three members, 

Written terms of reference have been adopted by the Board in compliance with the Listing Rules and are 

Committee include, among other things:

senior management; and

out in notes 11 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements as included in this annual report, respectively.

3. Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprised three members as at the date of this report, namely Mr. Chong Lee 

are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; monitoring the implementation of the Board 

reference are aligned with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and they are available on the websites 

meeting of the Company and made recommendations to the Board on such proposed re-appointment of 
directorship.
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4. Audit Committee
The audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Company comprised of three independent non-

Written terms of reference have been adopted by the Board in compliance with the Listing Rules and are 

The roles and functions of the Audit Committee include, among other things:

auditor;

(c) reviewing the financial information of the Group including the monitoring of the integrity of the Group’s 
financial statements, annual report and accounts, half-yearly interim report and reviewing significant 

(d) overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures.

has reviewed and made recommendations in relation to the following matters:

(a) reviewed the financial statements and annual results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2015 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2015;

systems and the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Group;

and

(e) reviewed the continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 March 
2015.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The corporate governance functions of the Company are performed by the Board collectively. The roles and 
functions of the Board in terms of the corporate governance functions include, among other things:

(a) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

management;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements; and

(d) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the related disclosures in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

corporate governance structure and policies of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND INTERNAL AUDIT

internal control systems and internal audit function to safeguard the Company’s assets and shareholders’ interests, 
as well as, with the Audit Committee, for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems and function at least twice 
annually for each of the half-yearly period. A business analysis and internal control team is established and 

reasonable assurance against any misstatement or loss and to timely identify, evaluate and manage any significant 

and internal control team whenever material internal control irregularities or defects are noted, the Board may 
engage independent consultants to conduct review of the related systems as and when necessary.

and the internal audit function of the Group. The review covered all material controls, including financial, 

the business analysis and internal control team, particularly on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control 

management and internal control systems and the internal audit function of the Group functioned effectively and 
adequately during the year of review.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

services (including but not limited to the performance of agreed-upon procedures and preparation of accountants’ 
reports on historical financial information and pro forma financial information for transaction purpose) with total 

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated financial statements are prepared on a 

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

and relevant regulatory requirements in relation to the directors’ training and professional development.

respective duties and responsibilities or the businesses of the Company. A summary of their records of training 
during the year is as follows:

   

Directors

Attending briefings,
trainings, seminars

or conference

Reading articles,
researches, journals

or updates
   

Executive Directors:
(Chairman)

(Chief Executive Officer)
(Chief Financial Officer)

Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming

(Vice Chairman)  
 (resigned on 1 May 2016)
Mrs. Chen Chou Mei Mei (resigned on 24 September 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chong Lee Chang
Mr. Siu Kin Wai

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (resigned on 26 October 2015)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

year under review, the company secretary of the Company has complied with the professional training 
requirements under the CG Code.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws of the Company are published on the websites of the Company 

laws of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION
Model 

Code

required standard set out in the Model Code during the year and the Company was not aware of any non-

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company recognises the importance of maintaining effective communication, ensuring timely and accurate 
disclosure of information to the shareholders and investors of the Company. The Company had established a 
shareholders’ communication policy and review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company 
communicates with the shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meetings and special general meetings, if any, which may be convened for 
specific purposes which provide opportunities for the shareholders to communicate directly with the Board;

Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(iii) the availability of latest information of the Group in the Company’s website at www.agritraderesources.com; 
and

(iv) the holding of press conference from time to time.

Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board either by post, by facsimiles 
or by email, for the attention of Chairman of the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the following 
address or facsimiles number or via email:

Address: Agritrade Resources Limited

Email address: info@agritraderesources.com
Facsimile number: (852) 3106 0227
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committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer the shareholders’ questions either by phone or in 
writing.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening a Special General Meeting (the “SGM”) by Shareholders
Shareholder(s) holding, at the date of the deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up 
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right to 
submit a written requisition requiring an SGM to be called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the 

business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary of the Company, and may 

convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of 
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the 

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company, or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give 

be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice 
of any general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any 
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the 
requisitionists must be deposited at the registered office of the Company with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet 

that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the principal office of 

such requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited 
for the purposes thereof.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED
(鴻寶資源有限公司)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Agritrade Resources Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (hereafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 144, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and 
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report.

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

OPINION

as at 31 March 2016 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Lam Siu Fung
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2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 7 1,152,468 1,234,468

Cost of sales and services (796,708) (863,979)
    

Gross profit 355,760 370,489

Other income, and gains and losses, net 8 53,369 9,730

Gain on bargain purchase 36 358,301 –

(228,476) (136,413)

Finance costs 13 (29,747) (30,991)
    

509,207 212,815

14 (43,594) (31,956)
    

9 465,613 180,859
    

— Owners of the Company 470,782 146,858
— Non-controlling interests (5,169) 34,001
    

465,613 180,859
    

(represented)
Earnings per share: 17
— Basic HK31.2 cents HK11.5 cents

HK28.3 cents HK11.1 cents
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2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

465,613 180,859

Other comprehensive income:

(12,953) (3,537)
   

Total comprehensive income for the year 452,660 177,322
   

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company 457,829 143,210
— Non-controlling interests (5,169) 34,112
   

452,660 177,322
   



AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED76

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 March 2016

    

2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
18 5,998,700 3,135,187
19 44,264 15,232
20 5,704 –

    

6,048,668 3,150,419
    

Current assets
21 48,956 32,100

 Trade receivables 22 183,334 187,994
 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 22 365,055 320,533

23 988 –
 Amounts due from related parties 37(b) 149,178 73,046

295,925 265,062
    

1,043,436 878,735
    

Current liabilities
 Trade payables 24 78,312 201,115
 Other payables, accruals and deposits received 24 273,500 162,155

25 5,349 5,349
26 237,802 192,537

 Amounts due to related parties 37(b) 1,070 1,087
 Obligation under finance leases 32 40,047 60,418

23 14,575 –
214,666 162,405

    

865,321 785,066
    

Net current assets 178,115 93,669
    

Total assets less current liabilities 6,226,783 3,244,088
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2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current liabilities
27 1,139,150 572,559
26 411,246 154,647

 Convertible bonds 28 113,133 –
 Obligation under finance leases 32 25,194 10,085
    

1,688,723 737,291
    

Net assets 4,538,060 2,506,797
    

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 29 152,093 135,460
 Reserves 2,543,549 1,464,729
    

 Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,695,642 1,600,189
 Non-controlling interests 1,842,418 906,608
    

Total equity 4,538,060 2,506,797
    

Ng Xinwei Ashok Kumar Sahoo
Director Director
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Share
 capital

Share
 premium

Convertible
 preference 

shares 
reserve

Convertible 
bonds 
equity 

reserve
Translation 

reserve

Share 
option 

reserve
Other

 reserve
Retained

 profits

Proposed
 final

 dividend Total

Non-
controlling

 interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 29) (Note (i)) (Note (ii)) (Note (ii)) (Note (iii)) (Note (iv)) (Note (v))
             

At 1 April 2014 107,207 700,720 116,004 117,966 20,439 5,554 – 269,656 35,522 1,373,068 872,496 2,245,564
– – – – – – – 146,858 – 146,858 34,001 180,859

Other comprehensive 
 income for the year:

 arising on translation of 
 foreign operations – – – – (3,648) – – – – (3,648) 111 (3,537)
             

Total comprehensive 
 income for the year – – – – (3,648) – – 146,858 – 143,210 34,112 177,322
             

Conversion of convertible 
 bonds 16,710 230,391 – (117,966) – – – – – 129,135 – 129,135
Conversion of convertible 
 preference shares 11,200 104,804 (116,004) – – – – – – – – –

343 4,177 – – – (676) – – – 3,844 – 3,844
– – – – – – – (13,546) (35,522) (49,068) – (49,068)
– – – – – – – (14,208) 14,208 – – –

             

At 31 March 2015 135,460 1,040,092 – – 16,791 4,878 – 388,760 14,208 1,600,189 906,608 2,506,797
– – – – – – – 470,782 – 470,782 (5,169) 465,613

Other comprehensive 
 income for the year:

 arising on translation of 
 foreign operations – – – – (12,953) – – – – (12,953) – (12,953)
             

Total comprehensive 
 income for the year – – – – (12,953) – – 470,782 – 457,829 (5,169) 452,660
             

16,500 239,234 – – – – – – – 255,734 – 255,734

 preference shares – – 85,492 – – – – – – 85,492 – 85,492
Contingently issuable 
 convertible preference 
 shares – – – – – – 357,783 – – 357,783 – 357,783
Recognition of equity-settled 
 share-based payment – – – – – 8,836 – – – 8,836 – 8,836

133 1,616 – – – (261) – – – 1,488 – 1,488
Non-controlling interests 
 arising on business 
 combination – – – – – – – – – – 1,067,600 1,067,600

 non-controlling interests (27,122) (27,122)
Acquisition of additional 
 interests in subsidiaries – – – – – – (57,501) – – (57,501) (99,499) (157,000)

– – – – – – – – (14,208) (14,208) – (14,208)
– – – – – – – (15,211) 15,211 – – –

             

At 31 March 2016 152,093 1,280,942 85,492 – 3,838 13,453 300,282 844,331 15,211 2,695,642 1,842,418 4,538,060
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Notes:

(i) Share premium

(ii) Convertible preference shares reserve and convertible bonds equity reserve
The balances represent the equity component of outstanding convertible preference shares and outstanding convertible 
bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for convertible preference 
shares and convertible bonds in Notes 4(g)(vi) and 4(g)(iv), respectively.

(iii) Translation reserve

operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 4(l).

(iv) Share option reserve

(v) Other reserve
The balance represents (i) difference between the fair value of consideration and the proportionate share of carrying 
amount of net assets arising from the acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries; and (ii) the fair value of convertible 
preference shares contingently issuable in a business combination during the current year.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 March 2016

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Operating activities
509,207 212,815

159,366 140,823
 Release of prepaid lease payments 1,287 1,346

(1,399) (263)
 Fair value changes on financial instruments, net (33,127) –
 Finance costs 29,747 30,991
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4,158) (2,079)
 Gain on bargain purchase (358,301) –
 Write-off and allowance of other receivables 47,573 –
 Equity-settled share-based payment 8,836 –
 Operating service fee in relation to a plant – 7,740
   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 359,031 391,373
(16,856) (751)
(85,133) –

  deposits and prepayments 196,112 (68,033)

  accruals and deposits received (260,365) 8,868
   

 Cash generated from operations 192,789 331,457
(5,432) (4,655)

(24,930) (22,975)
   

Net cash generated from operating activities 162,427 303,827
   

Investing activities
1,399 263
9,001 (53,872)

(413,085) (316,155)
42,191 39,037

 Addition in prepaid lease payments (25,767) (4,635)
(550) –

– (1,935)
 Consideration for business combination, net (230,543) –
   

Net cash used in investing activities (617,354) (337,297)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 March 2016

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financing activities
 282,465 250,576

 Repayment of obligation under financial leases (5,262) (65,658)
154,600 –

98,734 –
1,488 3,844

(17) (8,485)
(41,330) (49,068)

   

Net cash generated from financing activities 490,678 131,209
   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 35,751 97,739

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 265,062 170,848

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (4,888) (3,525)
   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, 
 representing bank balances and cash 295,925 265,062
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2016

1. GENERAL

place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section in the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are 
set out in Note 34. The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the Group.

Limited, which is incorporated in Singapore.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2015

year and relevant to the Group.

HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKFRSs (Amendments)
Amendments to HKAS19 (2011)

The adoption of these amendments has no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective

issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.

HKFRSs (Amendments) 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 1

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
 Amortisation1

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1

HKFRS 9 (2014) 2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

HKFRS 16 Leases3

1

2

3
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative

when considering the layout and content of their financial statements.

ventures will be split between those items that will and will not be reclassified to profit or loss, and 
presented in aggregate as a single line item within those two groups.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 — Clarification of Acceptable Methods 
of Depreciation and Amortisation
The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit the use of a revenue-based depreciation method for items of 
property, plant and equipment. The amendments to HKAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that 
amortisation based on revenue is not appropriate for intangible assets. This presumption can be 

consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

Amendments to HKAS 27 — Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity method in accounting for its investments in 

HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments

contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have contractual terms that give rise to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the 

that meet the contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured at fair value through other 

replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge accounting requirements to allow 

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial 

9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation
Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics that may change the current 

disclosures related to revenue.

HKFRS 16 — Leases
HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations, 
introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for 
all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, 
under HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the 

Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease 
liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest 
portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease 
liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease 
payments and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain 

accounting treatment is significantly different from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as 
operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or 
finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

disclosed above. The directors of the Company so far concluded that the application of these 
pronouncements will have no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong 

financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 

(b) Basis of measurement

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the 
functional currency of the Company.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 

unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset 
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition or 

financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other 
members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, 
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the 
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-
transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in 
the subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis is 

equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair 

to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the fair value of identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

assessment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are 

received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of 
any retained interest; and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and 
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be 
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present 
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed 
to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

rights, to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable 
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in 
any of these elements of control.

impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of 
dividend received and receivable.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 

the financial period in which they are incurred.

value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and 

Buildings Over the shorter of the leases, or the estimated useful life of 
 the buildings of 50 years

Mining-related plant and machinery 12.5–25%
20–33%

Motor vehicles 12.5–30%
Vessels 4–10%

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs of 
construction as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of construction and installation. 
Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate 
class of property, plant and equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the 
assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of construction 
in progress until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

Mining properties are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses and are 
amortised on the units-of-production method utilising only proven and probable coal reserves in the 
depletion base.

When proven and probable coal reserves have been determined, stripping costs incurred to develop 
surface coal mines are capitalised as part of the cost of the mining property. Stripping costs incurred 
during the production phase are variable production costs that are included in the costs of inventory 
produced during the period that the stripping costs are incurred, unless the stripping activity can be 
shown to give rise to future benefits from the mineral property, in which case the stripping costs would 
be capitalised into mining property. Future benefits arise when stripping activity increases the future 
output of the mine by providing access to a new ore body.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher than the 
asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

owned assets, or where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the 
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

(d) Prepaid lease payments for leasehold land under operating leases

acquire long-term interests in lessee-occupied properties. These payments are stated at cost and are 

(e) Leasing

and rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Time charter income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets at their fair value or, if lower, the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease commitment is shown as a 
liability. Lease payments are analysed between capital and interest. The interest element is charged to 
profit or loss over the period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents a constant proportion of 
the lease liability. The capital element reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integrated part of the total 



AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED 89

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment, prepaid lease payments and investments in subsidiaries to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously 

fair value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 

for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

(g) Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which 
the asset was acquired. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at 
fair value and all other financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or 
sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the 

concerned.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
These assets include financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through 
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 

as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or financial 
guarantee contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 

derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the 
embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if 
the following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent 
treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognising gains or losses on 
them on a different basis; (ii) the assets are part of a group of financial assets which is managed 
and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis according to a documented management 
strategy; or (iii) the financial asset contains an embedded derivative that would need to be 
separately recorded.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured 
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

customers (trade debtors), and also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 

immaterial, in which case, the loans and receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses.

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that 
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s financial difficulty;

evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. When any part of financial asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off 
against the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

recognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were 
incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value 
and financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly 
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities designated upon 
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in 

for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on 
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 

derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the 
embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss 
if the following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the 
inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising 
gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part of a group of financial 
liabilities which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 

derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Compound Instruments
Compound instruments that contain liability and equity components
The component parts of compound instruments, comprising convertible bonds issued by the 
Group, are classified separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the substance of 

instruments is classified as an equity instrument. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability 

instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective 

equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair 
value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of 

instruments based on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to 
the equity component was charged directly to equity. The portion relating to the liability 
component is included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the 
period of the convertible instruments using the effective interest method.

component into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve 

retained profits.

Compound instruments that contain liability component and conversion 
option derivative
Compound instruments issued by the Group that contain both liability and conversion option 
components are classified separately into their respective items on initial recognition. Conversion 

derivative. At the date of issue, the conversion option derivative is recognised at fair value. Any 

as liability.

The conversion option derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Compound Instruments (continued)

Compound instruments that contain liability component and conversion 
option derivative (continued)

When the instruments are converted, the carrying amount of the liability portion together with the 
fair value of the conversion derivative at the time of conversion are transferred to share capital and 
share premium as consideration for the shares issued. When the instruments are redeemed, and 
difference between the redemption amount and the carrying amounts of both components is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the compound instruments are allocated to the liability 
and conversion option components in proportion to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction 
costs relating to the conversion option derivative are recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the 
liability portion and amortised over the period of the instruments using the effective interest 
method.

(v) Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 

shorter period.

(vi) Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

(vii) Financial guarantee contracts

due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee 
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair value through profit or loss is 
recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue 
of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the 
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised 
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(viii) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in 

transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 

(i) Inventories

cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 

(j) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents 
amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of 

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when goods are delivered and titles are passed.

Revenue from time charter and provision of floating storage service, which is of operating lease in 
nature, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of relevant lease.

amount on initial recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Income taxes

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

directly in equity.

(l) Foreign currency
Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling 
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates 
ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
not retranslated.

the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period 

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(l) Foreign currency (continued)

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 

financial statements on the translation of non-current monetary items forming part of the Group’s net 
investment in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity as translation reserve.

reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of 
the profit or loss on disposal.

reserve.

(m) Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(ii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment 
of termination benefits.

(n) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Where share options are awarded to employees and others providing similar services, the fair value of 
the options at the date of grant is recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period with a 

reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting period is based 

of the options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value 
of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also recognised in profit or 
loss over the remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than employees and others providing similar 
services, the fair value of services received is recognised in profit or loss unless the services qualify for 
recognition as assets. A corresponding increase in equity is recognised. For cash-settled share-based 
payments, a liability is recognised at the fair value of the services received.

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities

constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an outflow of 
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent 
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Provisions for close-down, restoration and environmental costs
One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence caused by the resettlement of the land at the 

sites prior to conducting mining activities or the Group may compensate the inhabitants for losses or 
damage from close-down and land subsidence after the sites have been mined. The Group may also be 

the sites have been mined.

Close-down, restoration and environmental costs include the dismantling and demolition of 
infrastructure and the removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas. These costs are 
provided in the accounting period when the obligation arising from the related disturbance occurs 

disturbance. The cost estimates are reviewed and revised at end of each reporting period to reflect 
changes in conditions.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Related parties
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group 
or an entity related to the Group.

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.



AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED 99

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Capitalisation of borrowing costs
Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets 
which require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as 

borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(a) Provision for close-down, restoration and environmental costs
The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure that it properly reflects the remaining obligations arising 

as the effect on the land and the environment from current mining activities becomes apparent in future 

are set out in Note 25.

(b) Reserve estimates
Coal reserves are amortised on the units-of-production method. Reserves are estimates of the amount 

calculate reserves, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical and 
economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production costs, 
transportation costs, commodity demand and commodity prices.

fields to be determined by analysing geological data such as drilling samples. This process may require 
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Reserve estimates (continued)

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves change from period to period, and 
because additional geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of reserves 
may change from period to period. Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial 
results and financial position in a number of ways, including the followings:

(i) Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows.

are determined by the units-of-production basis, or where the useful economic lives of assets 
change.

as discussed above.

(c) Carrying value of non-current assets and impairment of assets
Non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments were carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation, where appropriate, and impairment losses. 
These carrying amounts are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 

amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future cash flows to be associated with the non-

the recoverable amounts will need to be revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s results of 
operations or financial position.

(d) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Management determines the estimated useful lives of and related depreciation charges for items of 
property, plant and equipment save as mining properties as mentioned in Note 5(b) above. This 

significantly as a result of significant technical innovations and competitor actions in response to 
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are less than 
previously estimated lives, or will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets 
that have been abandoned or sold.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(e) Capitalised stripping costs
The Group capitalises stripping (waste removal) costs incurred during the production phase to the 

These changes are accounted for prospectively.

(f) Determination of functional currency
The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the group 

determine the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and services and of the country 
whose competitive forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices of its goods and services.

(g) Determination and classification of lease arrangements

management further assesses whether a lease arrangement shall be classified as a finance lease or an 

(h) Fair value measurement
A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s financial statements require measurement at, 

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises 

measurements are categorised into different levels based on how observable the inputs used in the 
valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs used that 
has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are 
recognised in the period they occur.

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value, details of which are set out in the applicable 
notes.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating 

The Group’s operating segments are structured and managed separately according to the nature of their 
operations and the products and services they provided. Each of the Group’s operating segments represents 

different from those of the other operating segments. Summary of details of the operating segments are as 
follows:

activities.

(ii) Shipping segment comprised the freight management service from time chartering, and the provision 
of floating storage and relevant logistics services for crude oil and petrochemical products.

segment performance.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s reportable segments.

(a) Reportable segments

Mining Shipping Total
       

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Reportable segment 
 revenue 986,194 1,210,958 237,760 50,559 1,223,954 1,261,517

– – (71,486) (27,049) (71,486) (27,049)
       

 customers 986,194 1,210,958 166,274 23,510 1,152,468 1,234,468
       

Reportable segment
 profit 480,429 235,234 87,114 21,630 567,543 256,864

1,217 235 42 20 1,259 255

Finance costs (12,901) (22,339) (5,711) (636) (18,612) (22,975)

 amortisation (131,066) (134,928) (28,265) (5,848) (159,331) (140,776)

Reportable segment 
 assets 6,353,221 3,620,352 712,085 366,476 7,065,306 3,986,828

Additions to non-current 
 assets 2,712,444 139,449 365,780 181,891 3,078,224 321,340

Reportable segment 
 liabilities (2,005,839) (1,314,008) (372,916) (183,169) (2,378,755) (1,497,177)
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Geographical information

(“specified non-current assets”):

Revenue from
external customers

Specified
non-current assets

     

2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

988,460 1,234,468 5,438,254 2,850,445

– – 65 91
22,427 – – –

Malaysia 104,658 – – –
Singapore 36,923 – 610,349 299,883
     

1,152,468 1,234,468 6,048,668 3,150,419
     

The Group does not generate significant revenue from Bermuda, its place of incorporation nor Hong 

The revenue information above is based on the location of customers.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(c) Information about major customers

amounted to HK$319,638,000 and HK$129,070,000 (2015: HK$409,069,000) which represented 10% or 
more of the Group’s revenue for the year.

(d) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit before income tax:
Reportable segment profit 567,543 256,864

(58,336) (44,049)
   

509,207 212,815
   

Assets:
Reportable segment assets 7,065,306 3,986,828
Unallocated corporate assets 26,798 42,326
   

Consolidated total assets 7,092,104 4,029,154
   

Liabilities:
Reportable segment liabilities 2,378,755 1,497,177
Unallocated corporate liabilities 175,289 25,180
   

Consolidated total liabilities 2,554,044 1,522,357
   

7. REVENUE
Revenue represents the aggregate of net amounts received and receivable for goods sold and services 
provided, less returns and allowances to outside customers during the year.

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sale of coals 986,194 1,210,958
Vessel charter income 62,891 20,304
Floating storage service income 103,383 3,206
   

1,152,468 1,234,468
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8. OTHER INCOME, AND GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fair value changes on financial instruments, net (Notes 23 and 28) 33,127 –
11,930 –

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,158 2,079
1,399 263

Other income 2,755 7,388
   

53,369 9,730
   

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
This is arrived at after charging:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cost of services 80,813 19,672
Cost of inventories 715,895 844,307
   

796,708 863,979

Staff costs (Note 10) 94,438* 78,454*
159,366* 140,823*

Release of prepaid lease payments 1,287 1,346
Auditor’s remuneration 1,370 1,435
Write-off and allowance of other receivables 47,573 –
   

* Cost of inventories includes HK$87,598,000 (2015: HK$102,796,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation of property, 

amounts disclosed separately above.

 The amortisation charge for mining properties included in property, plant and equipment for the year is included in 
the Group’s cost of inventories in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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10. STAFF COSTS

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) comprises:
Salaries and other benefits 74,353 76,157

11,249 2,297
Equity-settled share-based payment 8,836 –
   

94,438 78,454
   

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

follows:

      

Fees

Salaries 
and other 

benefits

Post-
employment

 benefit
 contributions

Equity-settled
 share-based

 payment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

2016:
Executive directors:

(Chairman) 100 372 18 – 490
(Chief Executive Officer) 100 2,446 37 – 2,583

Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu 100 – – – 100

 (Chief Financial Officer) 100 3,180 107 – 3,387

Non-executive directors:

 (Vice Chairman) 100 1,105 18 8,836 10,059
Mrs. Chen Chou Mei Mei 43 – – – 43
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming 100 424 18 – 542

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chong Lee Chang 130 – – – 130
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee 74 – – – 74
Mr. Siu Kin Wai 150 – – – 150

120 – – – 120
      

1,117 7,527 198 8,836 17,678
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

     

Fees
Salaries and

other benefits

employment
 benefit

 contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

2015:
Executive directors:

 (Vice Chairman) 58 623 7 688
(Chief Executive Officer) 100 3,663 102 3,865

Ms. Lim Beng Kim, Lulu 100 – – 100

 (Chief Financial Officer) 100 2,934 102 3,136
Mr. Rashid Bin Maidin 80 – – 80

33 – – 33

Non-executive directors:
(Non-executive Chairman) 100 – – 100

Mrs. Chen Chou Mei Mei 90 – – 90
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming 100 1,048 17 1,165

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chong Lee Chang 130 – – 130
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee 130 – – 130
Mr. Siu Kin Wai 150 – – 150

120 – – 120
     

1,291 8,268 228 9,787
     

None of the directors has waived or agreed to waive any emolument paid or payable by the Group during 
the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2016.
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ REMUNERATION
Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the Group, four (2015: four) were directors of the 
Company, whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 11 above. The emolument of the 
remaining one (2015: one) individual is as follows:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and other benefits 822 1,037
18 17

   

840 1,054
   

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management are within the following bands.

   

2016 2015
Number of
 individuals

Number of
individuals

   

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 8 13
HK$1,000,001 and HK$1,500,000 – 1
HK$2,500,001 and HK$3,000,000 1 –
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 – 1
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000 1 –
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13. FINANCE COSTS

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

11,135 8,016
4,388 13,495

14,224 9,480
   

29,747 30,991
   

14. INCOME TAX

represents:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

56,958 48,401
735 (359)

   

57,693 48,042

(14,099) (16,086)
   

43,594 31,956
   

Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong had no assessable profits for both years.
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14. INCOME TAX (continued)

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

509,207 212,815
   

 (2015: 16.5%) 84,019 35,114
40,574 12,591
17,804 2,970
(99,540) (20,392)

– 2,026
2 6

735 (359)
   

43,594 31,956
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15. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

    

2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
10 134

– 34,940
    

10 35,074
    

Current assets
4,083 524

 Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,304,417 1,380,705
 Amounts due from related parties 15,438 –

5,032 39,512
    

2,328,970 1,420,741
    

Current liabilities
 Other payables and accruals 47,746 25,061
 Amounts due to subsidiaries 165,755 117,051

14,380 –
    

227,881 142,112
    

Net current assets 2,101,089 1,278,629
    

Total assets less current liabilities 2,101,099 1,313,703
    

Non-current liabilities
 Convertible bonds 28 113,133 –
    

113,133 –
    

Net assets 1,987,966 1,313,703
    

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 29 152,093 135,460

 Reserves 31 1,835,873 1,178,243
    

Total equity 1,987,966 1,313,703
    

Ng Xinwei Ashok Kumar Sahoo
Director Director
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16. DIVIDENDS

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

 and convertible preference share – 13,546

 per ordinary share 15,211 14,208
   

15,211 27,754
   

forthcoming annual general meeting and has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting 
period.
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17. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based 
on the following data:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Earnings
Earnings attributable to owners of the Company for 
 the purposes of basic earnings per share 470,782 146,858
Fair value change on conversion option component of convertible bonds (32,334) –

11,135 8,016
   

Earnings attributable to owners of the Company for 
 the purposes of diluted earnings per share 449,583 154,874
   

   

2016 2015
’000 ’000

(represented)
   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
 the purposes of basic earnings per share 1,510,502 1,276,988
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of ordinary shares:
 Convertible bonds 52,552 88,357
 Share options 23,714 26,338
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
 the purposes of diluted earnings per share 1,586,768 1,391,683
   

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2015 are represented to reflect the bonus 
element of the placing of shares during the year.

The computation of diluted earnings per share did not assume the issuance of the Company’s outstanding 
contingently issuable convertible preference shares as the conditions associated to the issuance of those 
contingently issuable convertible preference shares have not been met as at 31 March 2016.
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
         

Buildings
Mining

 properties

Mining-
related plant

 and
 machinery

Furniture,
 fixtures and
 equipment

Motor
 vehicles Vessels

Construction 
in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

Cost
 At 1 April 2014 7,648 2,578,816 515,997 19,563 26,087 123,840 9,276 3,281,227

– – – (7) (203) – – (210)
 Additions 14,803 4,224 138,213 7,268 1,013 181,891 3,683 351,095

– – (39,329) (1,250) (11) – (719) (41,309)
         

 At 31 March 2015 22,451 2,583,040 614,881 25,574 26,886 305,731 12,240 3,590,803
449 – 5,205 2 318 – 5,906 11,880

 Acquisition of subsidiaries 
  (Note 36) 12,101 2,322,762 125,329 75 523 – 175,433 2,636,223
 Additions 1,770 25,287 25,160 1,730 7,542 364,624 15,898 442,011

– – (41,112) (21) – – (28,926) (70,059)
         

 At 31 March 2016 36,771 4,931,089 729,463 27,360 35,269 670,355 180,551 6,610,858
         

Accumulated depreciation 
 and amortisation
 At 1 April 2014 812 205,608 101,427 6,528 4,967 – – 319,342

– – – (1) (197) – – (198)
762 71,772 54,701 4,964 2,776 5,848 – 140,823

– – (4,250) (100) (1) – – (4,351)
         

 At 31 March 2015 1,574 277,380 151,878 11,391 7,545 5,848 – 455,616
3 – 112 – 161 – – 276

1,138 65,960 55,676 5,326 3,069 28,197 – 159,366
– – (3,091) (9) – – – (3,100)

         

 At 31 March 2016 2,715 343,340 204,575 16,708 10,775 34,045 – 612,158
         

Net carrying value
 At 31 March 2016 34,056 4,587,749 524,888 10,652 24,494 636,310 180,551 5,998,700
         

 At 31 March 2015 20,877 2,305,660 463,003 14,183 19,341 299,883 12,240 3,135,187
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Notes:

(1) As at 31 March 2016, the net carrying values of the Group’s motor vehicles and plant and machinery held under 
finance leases amounted to HK$8,991,000 (2015: HK$11,342,000) and HK$151,436,000 (2015: HK$180,263,000), 
respectively. The Group’s obligation under finance leases is secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets.

(2) As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s mining-related plant and machinery with an aggregate carrying value of 
HK$13,884,000 (2015: HK$16,354,000) and vessels of HK$609,205,000 (2015: HK$299,883,000) were pledged to secure 

(3) Mining properties represent mining rights relating to 2 cash-generating units of coal mining (the “Coal Mining 
CGUs”).

The mining properties were initially recognised at the fair values on acquisition with reference to professional 
valuations performed by independent firms of professionally qualified valuers. At subsequent reporting periods, 
mining properties are measured using the cost model.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the mining properties using the units-of-production method based 
on the proven and probable mineral reserves under the assumption that the Group can renew the mining properties 
till all proven and probable mineral reserves have been mined.

Cost of mining properties as at 31 March 2016 includes stripping activity assets of HK$75,731,000 (2015: 
HK$44,912,000) in relation to one of the Group’s mines.

Mining property Location Expiry date
   

Coal Resources and Reserves Close to the town of Tamiang Layang, 
 in the Barito Timur Regency, 

Coal Resources and Reserves February 2030

19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

analysed for reporting purpose as follows:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets 44,264 15,232
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20. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cost and carrying amount:

At beginning of the year – –
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) 5,154 –
Addition 550 –
   

At end of the year 5,704 –
   

21. INVENTORIES

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Coal 48,956 32,100
   

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 183,334 187,994
   

Other receivables and deposits 333,732 308,308
31,323 12,225

   

365,055 320,533
   

548,389 508,527
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
(continued)

The Group generally allows credit period of up to 120 days to its trade customers. The following is an aged 
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts, presented based on the invoice date at the 
end of reporting period:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0–60 days 89,477 130,330
61–90 days 30,276 16,029
91–120 days 39,909 27,552
Over 120 days 23,672 14,083
   

183,334 187,994
   

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess credit worthiness by customers. The customers are 

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired are customers who have a good repayment record 

impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in 
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

(2015: HK$187,732,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided for 
impairment loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these 
receivables is 60 days for both years.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

1–60 days 42,692 130,068
61–90 days 7,981 16,029
91–120 days 9,677 27,552
Over 120 days 10,434 14,083
   

70,784 187,732
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
(continued)

Movement in impairment loss recognised

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning and end of the year 1,350 1,350
   

An amount of HK$38,700,000 was paid to a related company of a director of a subsidiary for purchase of plant 
and machinery. No delivery of plant and machinery has been made and the amount has not been refunded 

and accordingly full allowance for doubtful debt was recognised during the year.

23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  

As at 31 March 2016
Assets Liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Conversion option component of convertible bonds (Note 28) – 14,380
Forward currency contracts 988 –
Coal future contracts – 195
   

Total amount, classified as current 988 14,575
   

Forward currency contracts

These forward currency contracts are not designated for hedge purposes and are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivatives amounting to 
HK$988,000 were credited to profit or loss during the year (2015: HK$Nil).
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23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Coal future contracts

hedging instruments were as follows:

  

As at
31 March 2016

  

Quantities (in metric tonnes) 287,200
Average price per metric tonne US$50

From 1 April 2016
to 2 July 2017

Fair value loss of coal future contracts recognised as current liabilities (in HK$’000) 195
  

The above derivatives are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period and are with financial 
institutions. The fair values of coal future contracts are determined based on the forward coal price at the end 
of the reporting period.

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade payables 78,312 201,115
   

12,076 –
Contingent consideration payable 77,400 –
Other payables and accruals 184,024 162,155
   

273,500 162,155
   

351,812 363,270
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED 
(continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on invoice date at the end of the 
reporting period:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0–60 days 24,056 196,167
61–90 days 13,550 1,554
Over 90 days 40,706 3,394
   

78,312 201,115
   

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is up to 90 days and certain suppliers grant 

management policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

As at 31 March 2016, the contingent consideration payable in cash was stated at its fair value.

25. PROVISION FOR CLOSE-DOWN, RESTORATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
COSTS

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Balance at beginning and end of the year 5,349 5,349
   

Mining activities may result in land subsidence, which could lead to losses to the residents of the mining 

to certain acceptable conditions.

the environment from current mining activities becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the 

restoration and environmental costs are reviewed at least annually based upon the facts and circumstances 

Company, the amounts provided might be requested to pay within twelve months from the end of the 
reporting period and therefore, the amounts have been classified under current liabilities.
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26. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

On demand or within one year 237,802 192,537
After one year but within two years 108,658 28,096
After two years but within five years 279,243 126,551
After five years 23,345 –
   

649,048 347,184
Amount due within one year included in current liabilities (237,802) (192,537)
   

Amount due over one year included in non-current liabilities 411,246 154,647
   

ranging from 3.34% to 10.50% (2015: 3.08% to 11.75%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2015 and 2016, certain property, plant and equipment of the Group were pledged to secure 

guarantees of the Company and its certain subsidiaries; (ii) corporate guarantees of a non-controlling owner 
of a subsidiary and its related companies; (iii) personal guarantee of a shareholder of a non-controlling owner 
of a subsidiary; and (iv) pledge of shares of a subsidiary.

HK$48,766,000) in respect of which all conditions precedent were met.

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

57,556 72,865
 United States dollars (“US$”) 591,492 274,319
   

649,048 347,184
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27. DEFERRED TAX

current and prior years:

Mining properties
HK$’000

  

At 1 April 2014 (588,645)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 14) 16,086
  

At 31 March 2015 (572,559)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) (580,690)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 14) 14,099
  

At 31 March 2016 (1,139,150)
  

indefinitely.

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS
Convertible bonds issued in prior years

nominal value of HK$674,250,000 as part of the consideration of the business combinations. The Convertible 
Bonds 1 had a maturity period of ten years from the date of issue and can be converted into ordinary shares 

they would be redeemed at the tenth anniversary of the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds 1 at par. 

167,100,000 ordinary shares of the Company, and the Convertible Bonds 1 had been fully converted as of 31 
March 2015.

The carrying amount of the Convertible Bonds 1 in issue was split into the equity and liability components. 

equity conversion component, is included in shareholders’ equity in the convertible bonds equity reserve.
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Convertible bonds issued in the current year

maturity on 36 months from the issue date (the “Convertible Bonds 2”), which bears interest at a rate of (i) 
5.5% per annum from the issue date to the first anniversary of the issue date; and (ii) 6% per annum from the 
first anniversary of the issue date to the maturity date. The bonds are convertible into ordinary shares from 6 
months after the issue date up to the maturity date. The number of conversion shares to which the 
bondholder is entitled on conversion of the Convertible Bonds 2 shall be determined by dividing the 
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds 2 to be converted by the conversion price of HK$2.2 per share 

2 not converted will be redeemed on maturity at the outstanding principal amount and the accrued interest 
in US$.

There was no conversion or redemption of the Convertible Bonds 2 during the year.

Convertible Bonds 2 that contain both liability and conversion option components were classified separately 
into their respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option of Convertible Bonds 2 is a conversion 
option derivative. At the issue date and 31 March 2016, the conversion option derivative was recognised at 

valuation performed by Flagship Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited (“Flagship”), a firm of professionally 
qualified valuers, resulting in a gain on fair value change of financial derivates of HK$32,334,000 recognised in 
profit or loss for the current year. The fair value of the liability component was measured as the present value 

and was recognised as liability.

The movements on the liability components of the convertible bonds are as follows:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of the year – 121,119
108,316 –

Conversion of shares of the Company – (129,135)
11,135 8,016
(6,318) –

   

At end of the year 113,133 –
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

   

Number of 
shares

Amount
HK$’000

   

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
At 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 4,500,000,000 450,000
Effect of cancellation and reclassification (Note (i)) 100,000,000 10,000
   

At 31 March 2016 4,600,000,000 460,000
   

Convertible preference shares of HK$0.10 each:
At 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 500,000,000 50,000
Effect of cancellation and reclassification (Note (i)) (100,000,000) (10,000)
   

At 31 March 2016 400,000,000 40,000
   

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
At 1 April 2014 1,072,065,600 107,207

3,431,785 343
Conversion of convertible bonds (Note (iii)) 167,100,000 16,710
Conversion of convertible preference shares (Note (iv)) 112,000,000 11,200
   

At 31 March 2015 1,354,597,385 135,460
1,328,215 133

65,000,000 6,500

 (Note 34) 100,000,000 10,000
   

At 31 March 2016 1,520,925,600 152,093
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes:

unissued convertible preference shares of HK$0.1 each were cancelled, and reclassified into (i) 100,000,000 ordinary 
shares of HK$0.1 each; (ii) 200,000,000 class A convertible preference shares of HK$0.1 each with a notional value of 
HK$2.45 each; and (iii) 200,000,000 class B convertible preference shares of HK$0.1 each with a notional value of 
HK$2.45 each.

HK$133,000 (2015: HK$343,000) was credited to share capital and HK$1,355,000 (2015: HK$3,501,000) was credited 
to the share premium account. An amount of HK$261,000 (2015: HK$676,000) was transferred from share option 
reserve to the share premium account.

(iii) As set out in Note 28, during the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company’s Convertible Bonds 1 with principal 
value of HK$250,650,000 were converted into 167,100,000 ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion prices 
of HK$1.5 per share. HK$129,135,000 was released from liability component of the Convertible Bonds 1, of which 
HK$16,710,000 was credited to share capital and HK$112,425,000 was credited to share premium account. An 
amount of HK$117,966,000 was transferred from convertible bonds equity reserve to share premium account.

(iv) As set out in Note 30, during the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company’s convertible preference shares with 

conversion price of HK$1.5 per ordinary share. HK$116,004,000 was released from convertible preference shares 
reserve, of which HK$11,200,000 was credited to share capital and HK$104,804,000 was credited to share premium 
account.

HK$0.1 each were placed at a placing price of HK$1.55 per share to the then independent third parties of the 

share capital and the remaining balance of HK$92,234,000 was credited to the share premium account.

30. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
Convertible preference shares issued in prior years

HK$360,000,000 as part of the consideration for the business combinations. The conversion price of the 

without a maturity date. Neither the Company nor the holder of the convertible preference shares shall have 
any right to redeem the convertible preference shares, other than for the purpose of conversion of the 
convertible preference shares pursuant to the terms thereof. The convertible preference shares shall at all 

return of capital; and (b) pari passu with ordinary shares of the Company in issue as to dividends. The gross 
fair value of the convertible preference shares, at the initial recognition, was HK$249,084,000. An amount of 

preference shares reserve.

preference shares at a total nominal value of HK$168,000,000 into 112,000,000 ordinary shares of the 
Company, and the convertible preference shares were fully converted as of 31 March 2015.
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30. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (continued)

Convertible preference shares issued in the current year

consideration for the business combinations, details of which are set out in Note 36.

31. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Convertible 
preference 

shares 
reserve

Convertible 
bonds equity 

reserve
Share option 

reserve
Other

reserve
Retained 

profits
Proposed 

final dividend Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

          

At 1 April 2014 700,720 30,748 116,004 117,966 5,554 – 37,300 35,522 1,043,814

 for the year – – – – – – 78,771 – 78,771
Conversion of convertible preference 
 shares 104,804 – (116,004) – – – – – (11,200)
Conversion of convertible bonds 230,391 – – (117,966) – – – – 112,425

4,177 – – – (676) – – – 3,501
– – – – – – (13,546) (35,522) (49,068)
– – – – – – (14,208) 14,208 –

          

At 31 March 2015 1,040,092 30,748 – – 4,878 – 88,317 14,208 1,178,243
Loss and other comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – – – (20,862) – (20,862)

– – 85,492 – – – – – 85,492
Contingently issuable convertible 
 preference shares – – – – – 357,783 – – 357,783

239,234 – – – – – – – 239,234
Recognition of equity-settled share-
 based payment – – – – 8,836 – – – 8,836

1,616 – – – (261) – – – 1,355
– – – – – – – (14,208) (14,208)
– – – – – – (15,211) 15,211 –

          

At 31 March 2016 1,280,942 30,748 85,492 – 13,453 357,783 52,244 15,211 1,835,873
          

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the consolidated shareholders’ 
funds of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition 
at the time of a previous group reorganisation less amounts utilised on bonus issue of shares plus the credit 
arising from the capital reduction in prior years.
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32. LEASES
Finance leases
Future lease payments are due as follows:

    

Minimum 
lease 

payments
Future 

interest
Present

value
2016 2016 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Not later than one year 45,832 5,785 40,047
Later than one year and not later than five years 27,043 1,849 25,194
    

72,875 7,634 65,241
    

Minimum
lease

payments
Future

interest value
2015 2015 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Not later than one year 72,785 12,367 60,418
Later than one year and not later than five years 12,500 2,415 10,085
    

85,285 14,782 70,503
    

The present value of future lease payments are analysed as:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current liabilities 40,047 60,418
Non-current liabilities 25,194 10,085
   

65,241 70,503
   



AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED 129

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2016

32. LEASES (continued)

Operating leases — lessee
The Group paid minimum lease payments of HK$3,598,000 (2015: HK$1,526,000) and HK$18,025,000 (2015: 

operation, respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has commitments for future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises and the road which will fall due as follows:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 22,889 22,089
77,598 85,417

After five years 28,755 53,361
   

129,242 160,867
   

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its certain office premises and a road 

certain vessels for the Group’s shipping operations. Leases of time charter of vessels were negotiated for a 
term of 1 year with their rentals committed based on weight of products transported.

Operating lease — lessor
As the end of the reporting period, the Group has future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable 
operating leases in respect of its vessels for provision of floating storage services and time charter income 
which fall due as follows:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 172,189 44,474
155,435 –

   

327,624 44,474
   

Leases are negotiated for a term of 1 to 5 years.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

August 2012. At the end of the reporting period, 23,490,000 share options under the Old Scheme were 
outstanding.

On 10 October 2012, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) for the primary 

consultants of the Company or any subsidiaries or associated companies or such persons who from time to 
time are determined by the board of directors (the “Board”) at its discretion as having contributed to the 

shares in the Company at a price equal to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the 

Company, as at the date of the approval of the refreshment of New Scheme mandate limit on 31 August 
2015.

class of securities of the Company in issue in any 12-month periods.

comprising acceptance of the options signed by the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the 
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The following table discloses movements during both years in the Company’s share option scheme:

Category

Date of

grant

Exercisable 

period

Exercise price 

per share

(HK$)

Number of share options
 

At 1/4/2014 Exercised Transferred At 31/3/2015 Granted Exercised At 31/3/2016
           

1. Directors

1.120 2,750,000 – – 2,750,000 – – 2,750,000

Ms. Lim Beng Kim,  Lulu 1.120 1,500,000 – – 1,500,000 – – 1,500,000

Mr. Shiu Shu Ming 1.120 2,750,000 – – 2,750,000 – – 2,750,000*

Mr. Wong Man  Hung, 1.724 – – – – 10,000,000 – 10,000,000

       

7,000,000 – – 7,000,000 10,000,000 – 17,000,000
       

2. Associate of shareholder

1.120 3,000,000 – – 3,000,000 – – 3,000,000

       

3. Employees in aggregate 1.120 1,500,000 (481,785) 850,000 1,868,215 – (1,328,215) 540,000

       

4. Consultants in aggregate 1.120 15,750,000 (2,450,000) (850,000) 12,450,000 – – 12,450,000

1.122 1,000,000 (500,000) – 500,000 – – 500,000

       

16,750,000 (2,950,000) (850,000) 12,950,000 – – 12,950,000
       

28,250,000 (3,431,785) – 24,818,215 10,000,000 (1,328,215) 33,490,000
       

* The share options were granted to the grantee as an employee instead of a director at the date of grant.

(2015: HK$1.12 to HK$1.122) and their weighted average remaining contractual life was 5.87 years (2015: 5.44 
years).

Of the total number of share options outstanding at the end of the year, 33,490,000 (2015: 24,818,215) had 



AGRITRADE RESOURCES LIMITED132

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2016

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(2015: Nil). The fair value of share options granted during the year was HK$8,836,000, which was recognised 
in profit or loss.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year was estimated as at the date of grant 

granted. The inputs into the model are as follows:

2016
  

Grant date
Grant date share price HK$1.650

HK$1.724
Contractual life of option 10 years

70.32%
1.52%

1.775%

statistical analysis of daily share prices over the last ten years.

The Group did not enter into any share-based payment transactions with parties other than directors or 
employees during the current and prior years.
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34. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following list contains only the particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016 which 
principally affect the results, assets or liabilities of the Group as the directors are of the opinion that a full list 

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation 
or registration/
operations

Issued and fully paid 
share capital/
registered capital

Proportion of effective 
equity interests 

held by the Group Principal activities
     

2016 2015
      

Newtone Management 
 Limited*

Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%
 services

Sea Oriental Line Singapore US$16,000,000 and 
 Singapore dollars 

100% 100%
 management services

Sea Equatorial Limited US$1 100% 100%  
 services

Sea Horizon Line Limited US$1 100% –  
 services

#

49% –
 management services

Agritrade Resources Asia Singapore US$3,000,000 and 100% 100%

95% 95%

65%
(Note)

57% Mining and trading

51% – Mining and trading

51% – Mining and trading

 Mining
51% – Mining and trading

      

* directly held by the Company

# the Group has over 50% of voting rights of this company

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at 31 March 2015 and 2016.

Note:

HK$180,000,000 which was satisfied by the issue of 100,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at fair value of 
HK$157,000,000, of which HK$10,000,000 was credited to share capital and HK$147,000,000 was credited to share 

amount of its net assets and the consideration paid for the additional interest was charged to other reserve.
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35. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the Merge Group. As at 31 March 2016, the Group has material 

immaterial.

PTRI and PT SEM
The Merge 

Group
    

2016 2015 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

For the year ended 31 March

Revenue 711,913 881,271 –
    

Profit/(loss) for the year  39,754 77,785 (42,952)
    

Total comprehensive income 42,912 78,043 (35,087)
    

Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI 14,702 33,448 (21,046)
    

Dividends paid to NCI (27,122) – –
    

For the year ended 31 March

Cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities (69,435) 305,133 83,949
Cash flows used in investing activities (24,241) (169,719) (16,122)
Cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities (2,215) 2,170 –
    

Net cash (outflows)/inflows (95,891) 137,584 67,827
    

    

2016 2015 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

As at 31 March

Current assets 610,538 559,868 114,358
Non-current assets 2,741,266 2,815,466 2,660,204
Current liabilities (492,787) (640,438) (59,381)
Non-current liabilities (724,388) (652,779) (580,690)
    

Net assets 2,134,629 2,082,117 2,134,491
    

Accumulated NCI 786,895 905,128 1,046,554
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of the Merge Group as at the date of acquisition were:

    

Carrying Fair value Fair
amount adjustment value
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

2,506,169 130,054 2,636,223
4,392 – 4,392
5,154 – 5,154

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 283,547 – 283,547
1,657 – 1,657

Other payables, accruals and deposits received (171,507) – (171,507)
(548,177) (32,513) (580,690)

    

Total identifiable net assets 2,081,235 2,178,776
Non-controlling interests (1,067,600)
Gain on bargain purchase (358,301)
    

Consideration 752,875
    

Satisfied by:
Cash 232,200
Convertible preference shares 85,492
Contingent consideration 435,183
    

Consideration 752,875
    

Notes:

consideration of US$50 million and a conditional nominal consideration of US$103 million (the “Contingent 
Consideration”).

The initial consideration shall be payable and settled by the Company on the completion of the acquisition in the 
following manner:

cash and by way of set off against the same dollar value of some or all of the principal, interest and any other 
amounts outstanding from the Merge Group to the Group; and

fair value of HK$85,492,000 as at the date of completion.
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(1) (Continued)

After the completion of the acquisition, the Contingent Consideration is conditional, which shall be payable and 
settled by the Company in the following manner to the vendor upon the fulfilment of the conditions mainly 

and (ii) an entity within the Merge Group has commenced commercial production of run-of-mine coal:

completion; and

of HK$217,363,000 as at the date of completion.

At the date of completion of the acquisition, among the contingent considerations, the amount of HK$77,400,000 
payable in cash was included in the Group’s other payables and the fair value of the above Class A Convertible 

included in other reserve.

with the aggregate fair value of HK$443,275,000 as at the date of completion, are accounted for as equity 
instruments of the Company.

shares of the Company at HK$2.45 per share at any time within 2 years after a notice has been served by the 
Company to the holders that the Merge Group achieved sustainable production of 3 million tonnes of annualised 
production after the completion of the acquisition.

shares of the Company at HK$2.45 per share at any time within 2 years after a notice has been served by the 
Company to the holders that (i) the Merge Group achieved sustainable production of 3 million tonnes of annualised 
production after the completion of the acquisition; and (ii) the mining business license for coal mining held by an 

of Energy and Mineral Resources.

contractual amounts can be collected.

capital to commence mining activities, the purchase price was determined based on a discounted price, resulting in 
a gain on bargain purchase.

(5) Since the date of acquisition, the Merge Group has contributed HK$Nil and loss of HK$42,952,000 to Group’s 

would have been HK$1,152,468,000 and HK$451,426,000 respectively. This pro forma information is for illustrative 
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually 

of future performance.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save for those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, details of transactions between the Group 
and other related parties are disclosed below.

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sales to a shareholder of the Company 129,070 95,536
8,179 9,650

   

(b) Amounts with related parties are summarised below:

    

2016

Maximum 
amount 

outstanding 
during the 

year 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

(i) Amounts due from:
— Related company with common director 497 497 –
— Related company controlled by shareholder 
 of the Company 38 38 –
— Related company of a non-controlling owner 
 of a subsidiary 48,047 50,800 50,800
— Shareholder of the Company 100,596 100,596 22,246
    

Amounts included in current assets 149,178 73,046
    

(ii) Amounts due to:
— Non-controlling owner of a subsidiary and its 
 related companies 1,070 1,087
    

Amounts included in current liabilities 1,070 1,087
    

The balances with the above related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand or 
within one year after the end of the reporting period.

holding company, a related company and a director of the Company at an aggregate amount of 
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

which was beneficially 25.5%-owned by a shareholder of the Company, in relation to construction of a 

Upon the commencement of production after the completion of the building, installation, trail running 

HK$38,050,000 during the current year.

out in Note 11.
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38. COMMITMENTS
At the end of reporting period, the Group has no significant capital commitment.

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged from prior year.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

consider the effect of fluctuation of interest rate is not significant.

Other price risk

consolidated statement of financial position as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The 
directors of the Company consider the amount is insignificant and accordingly, no sensitivity analysis was 
performed.

Credit risk

determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 

individual trade debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are 

assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

counterparties and customers.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Liquidity risk

deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 

loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities 
based on the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows 
of the financial instruments based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table 
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

       

Within 1 year 
or on demand

More than 1 
year but less 
than 2 years

More than 2 
years but less 

than 5 years
More than 5 

years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

2016
Trade payables 78,312 – – – 78,312 78,312
Other payables and accruals 273,500 – – – 273,500 273,500

255,774 121,288 293,168 23,436 693,666 649,048
Amounts due to related parties 1,070 – – – 1,070 1,070
Obligation under finance leases 45,832 20,469 6,574 – 72,875 65,241
Convertible bonds 9,056 9,276 125,052 – 143,384 113,133
       

663,544 151,033 424,794 23,436 1,262,807 1,180,304
       

2015
Trade payables 201,115 – – – 201,115 201,115
Other payables and accruals 162,155 – – – 162,155 162,155

208,004 32,469 132,762 – 373,235 347,184
Amounts due to related parties 1,087 – – – 1,087 1,087
Obligation under finance leases 72,785 12,500 – – 85,285 70,503
       

645,146 44,969 132,762 – 822,877 782,044
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Currency risk

currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise 

with a fair value of HK$988,000, recognised as derivative financial instruments. The Group currently does not 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible 

  

Increase/
(decrease)

in profit
before income 

tax
HK$’000

  

2016
2,145

19
  

2015
1,575
1,225

  

Fair value
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

other receivables, deposits and prepayments, trade payables, other payables, accruals and deposits 

related parties, obligation under finance leases and liability component of convertible bonds.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active 

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value 

observable inputs and fair value are set out below.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value (continued)

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

The fair value of the conversion option component of convertible bonds is measured using the binomial 
tree approach.

reporting date.

The fair value of coal future contracts is determined based on forward coal price at the reporting date.

The fair value of contingent consideration payable is estimated using a discounted cash flow method.

The contingent consideration arrangement requires the Group to pay US$10 million in cash to the 

input is the fulfilment of the conditions within twelve months after the end of reporting period.

An increase in the time of fulfilment would result in a decrease in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration payable.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value 
hierarchy:

As at 31 March 2016

Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
— Contingent consideration payable – (77,400) (77,400)

— Conversion option component of convertible bonds (14,380) – (14,380)
— Forward currency contracts 988 – 988
— Coal future contracts (195) – (195)
    

(13,587) (77,400) (90,987)
    

As at 31 March 2016, the Group has no financial instrument carried at fair value under Level 1 hierarchy.

There was no transfer between levels during the year.
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 

balances. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings 
divided by total capital. Total borrowings include current and non-current borrowings as shown in the 

due to related parties, obligation under finance leases, derivative financial liabilities and convertible bonds. 
Total capital is calculated as “Equity attributable to owners of the Company”, as shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, plus “Borrowings”. The gearing ratios of the Group at 31 March 2015 and 
2016 are as follows:

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Total borrowings 843,067 418,774
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,695,642 1,600,189
   

Total capital 3,538,709 2,018,963
   

Gearing ratio 24% 21%
   

or issue new shares to reduce debts.

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There is no significant contingent liability of the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2016.
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42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY 
CATEGORY

   

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Fair value through profit or loss

988 –

 cost 962,014 834,410
   

Financial liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss

14,575 –
— Contingent consideration payable 77,400 –
Financial liabilities, at amortised cost 1,102,904 782,044
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RESULTS

audited financial statements of the Group and restated as appropriate are summarised below:

      

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Revenue
— continuing operation 427,225 700,891 961,316 1,234,468 1,152,468
— discontinued operation 109,074 125,251 – – –
      

536,299 826,142 961,316 1,234,468 1,152,468
      

— continuing operation 44,035 127,149 152,571 212,815 509,207
— discontinued operation (21,365) 659 – – –
      

22,670 127,808 152,571 212,815 509,207
      

— continuing operation (20,812) (38,982) (31,853) (31,956) (43,594)
— discontinued operation 305 – – – –
      

(20,507) (38,982) (31,853) (31,956) (43,594)
      

— continuing operation 23,223 88,167 120,718 180,859 465,613
— discontinued operation (21,060) 659 – – –
      

2,163 88,826 120,718 180,859 465,613
      

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (17,624) 53,470 115,194 146,858 470,782
 Non-controlling interests 19,787 35,356 5,524 34,001 (5,169)
      

2,163 88,826 120,718 180,859 465,613
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

      

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Total assets 2,968,998 3,225,349 3,676,438 4,029,154 7,092,104

Total liabilities (1,136,468) (1,303,143) (1,430,874) (1,522,357) (2,554,044)
      

1,832,530 1,922,206 2,245,564 2,506,797 4,538,060
      

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 1,000,460 1,054,903 1,373,068 1,600,189 2,695,642
 Non-controlling interests 832,070 867,303 872,496 906,608 1,842,418
      

1,832,530 1,922,206 2,245,564 2,506,797 4,538,060
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